

A Decade of Change: Crustacean Zooplankton Communities in Nine Minnesota Large Lakes

Kylie Cattoor¹, Heidi Rantala², David Staples², Jake Walsh¹, Jodene Hirsh^{1*} and Gary Montz^{1*}

¹Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Division of Ecological and Water Resources, 500 Lafayette Road, St. Paul MN 55155

²Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Division of Fish and Wildlife, 500 Lafayette Road, St. Paul MN 55155

*retired



CONTENTS

CONTENTS	2
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	10
Highlights/Insights	10
Recommendations	10
INTRODUCTION	11
Justification and significance	13
Objectives	13
METHODS	14
Field Protocol	14
Laboratory Protocol	14
RESULTS & DISCUSSION	20
Programmatic Summary of Zooplankton Communities	20
Lake-Specific Summaries of Zooplankton Trends	23
Sample Effort and Efficiencies	31
SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATIONS	31
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	34
DATA AVAILABILITY	34
REFERENCES	34
APPENDICES	91

LIST OF TABLES

- TABLE 3. Summary table of Theil-Sen slopes for zooplankton density, biomass, and production in Minnesota's Large Lakes. All values presented were significant (p<0.05). NS indicates no significant change. Arrows denote an overall increase or decrease in diversity. Production was not estimated in Lake of the Woods....32

LIST OF FIGURES

- FIGURE 5a.—Relationships between total native zooplankton density (number/L) and spiny waterflea density (number m⁻³). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with spiny waterflea (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Kabetogama (n=83), Lake of the Woods (n=82), Mille Lacs (n=98), Rainy (n=91), Vermilion- East (n=71), Vermilion- West (n=70).43

- FIGURE 5b.—Relationships between total natve zooplankton biomass (μg/L) and spiny waterflea density (number/m³). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with spiny waterflea (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Kabetogama (n=83), Lake of the Woods (n=82), Mille Lacs (n=98), Rainy (n=91), Vermilion- East (n=71), Vermilion- West (n=70).44

- FIGURE 7b.—Relationships between total native zooplanton biomass (μg/L) and zebra mussel veliger density (number/L). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with zebra mussels (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Cass (n=51), Lake of the Woods (n=52), Leech (n=56), Mille Lacs (n=90), Red (n=73), Winnibigoshish (n=48)......47

- FIGURE 9b.—Median daily summer native zooplankton production (ug L⁻¹ d⁻¹) in the study lakes when infested with spiny waterflea (SWF), zebra mussels (ZM), or both (SWF & ZM), and results of generalized linear mixed effects models relative to lakes without either of those invasive invertebrates (Neither). Impacts were estimated for large *Daphnia* spp., small cladocerans, and adult cyclopoid and calanoid copepods. Models included random effects for individual lakes and years (n =

- FIGURE 12.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μg/L) and secondary production (μg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Cass Lake. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density (number L⁻¹) of zebra mussel veligers is from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error......53

- FIGURE 17.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μg/L) and secondary production (μg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Kabetogama. Color bars represent different

	functional groups. The data are from site 1 only and sampling event from August 3, 2020 was removed due to a large <i>Daphnia galeata mendotae</i> bloom that occurred. Annual mean density (number m ⁻³) of spiny waterflea is from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error
FIGURE 18.—	-A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Kabetogama (2-D stress = 0.05). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa
FIGURE 19	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2001–2021 in Lake Kabetogama60
FIGURE 20.—	-Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μg/L) of zooplankton in Lake of the Woods. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to three collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant increase in density and decrease in biomass from 2007–2021. Data from 2010 and 2012 were excluded from the analysis and data collected from 2008–2012 used a 150 μm mesh plankton net
FIGURE 21.—	-Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake of the Woods. Color bars represent different functional groups. Data in 2010 and 2012 were collected in August only and are not summarized. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number m ⁻³) and zebra mussel veligers (number L ⁻¹) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error
FIGURE 22.—	-A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake of the Woods (2-D stress = 0.08). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa
FIGURE 23.—	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 1994–2021 in Lake of the Woods64
FIGURE 24.—	-Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μg/L) of zooplankton in Leech Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to five collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021
FIGURE 25.—	-Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μg/L) and secondary production (μg DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) of zooplankton in Leech Lake. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density (number/L) of zebra mussel veligers are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error66
FIGURE 26.—	-A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Leech Lake (2-D stress = 0.06). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa

	contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa
FIGURE 27.—	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2012–2021 in Leech Lake68
FIGURE 28.—	-Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μg/L) of zooplankton in Lake Mille Lacs. Hollow circles represent one sampling event. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2006–2021. The Pettitt's test for single change-point detection was significant for density or biomass in 2011 (p-values< 0.05*)
FIGURE 29.—	-Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Mille Lacs. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number/m ³) and zebra mussel veligers (number/L) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error
FIGURE 30.—	-A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Mille Lacs (2-D stress = 0.04). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa
FIGURE 31	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2006–2021 in Lake Mille Lacs72
FIGURE 32.—	-Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μg/L) of zooplankton in Rainy Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to four collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2001–2021
FIGURE 33.—	-Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μg/L) and secondary production (μg DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) of zooplankton in Rainy Lake. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number/m ³) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error74
FIGURE 34.—	-A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Rainy Lake (2-D stress = 0.09). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.
FIGURE 35.—	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2001–2021 in Rainy Lake76
FIGURE 36.—	-Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μg/L) of zooplankton in Red Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to the different basins (lower and upper). The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant increase in density and biomass from 2012–202177

FIGURE 37.—	Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) of zooplankton in Red Lake (upper and lower basins). Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of zebra mussel veligers (number/L) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error
FIGURE 38.—	A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Red Lake (2-D stress = 0.006). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.
FIGURE 39.—	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2012–2021 in Red Lake80
FIGURE 40.—	Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake Vermilion (East and West basin). Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to four collection sites. In the east basin, the Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021. In the est basin, the Theil-Sen slope shows a significant increase in density and biomass from 2012–2021
FIGURE 41.—	Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Vermilion (East and West basins). Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number/m ³) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error
FIGURE 42.—	A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Vermilion (East and West basins; 2-D stress = 0.04 and 0.06). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa
FIGURE 43.—	-Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2012–2021 in Lake Vermilion (East and West basin)
FIGURE 44.—	-Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μg/L) of zooplankton in Lake Winnibigoshish and Cut Foot Sioux. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond the two different waterbodies. Tthe Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021.
FIGURE 45.—	Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Winnibigoshish and Cut Foot Sioux. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of zebra mussel veligers (number/L) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error

- FIGURE 48.—Average number of animals counted for individual taxa in samples (gray points) and range of 95% of measurements of (a) individual length (μm) and (b) dry weight (μg). Spiny waterflea (Bythotrephes cederströemi, synonym Bythotrephes longimanus) was removed from the plot because it is exceptionally large, variable, and infrequently counted. The number of samples varies by taxon......89

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to summarize the zooplankton community in the nine largest walleye lakes in Minnesota (hereafter, Large Lakes). Standardized zooplankton sampling was conducted consistently in the Large Lakes since 2012. Since that time, aquatic invasive species (AIS) such as spiny waterflea (*Bythotrephes cederströmii*, synonym *Bythotrephes longimanus*) and/or zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*), made their way into all nine lakes. This report examines the impacts of those invasive species on zooplankton community structure and function, and we provide broad recommendations to the zooplankton monitoring program on the frequency and intensity of data collection for another decade.



Highlights/Insights. —We observed major and progressive impacts of spiny waterflea and zebra mussel on native zooplankton biomass, community composition, and secondary production. These impacts varied among lakes based on which taxon/taxa invaded, characteristics of invasion (timing and magnitude), and the zooplankton assemblage. We found that the impacts of AIS varied, both between spiny waterflea and zebra mussels and among the four major groups of native zooplankton (small cladocerans, large *Daphnia* spp., calanoid copepods, and cyclopoid copepods). In all cases, however, AIS were related to declines in zooplankton population and community metrics. Additionally, declines in native zooplankton varied throughout the summer, and in the case of communities invaded by spiny waterflea, persisted even early in the season before the invasive predator was detected in our samples.

Recommendations. —We determined appropriate sample efforts that are lake-specific (<u>Table</u> <u>A.1</u>). We also recommend limiting to 30 individual nauplii and copepodite measurements in each sample to improve efficiency. We will continue to refine and standardize protocols

(whenever possible) so that the data continue to advance our understanding of AIS impacts to Minnesota waters. We recommend that monitoring of zooplankton continues in the Section of Fisheries Large Lakes program. The data are important for understanding impacts to food webs, serving as an indicator of system change. We further recommend that studies related to the effects of AIS on lake ecosystems and fisheries continue to be supported, beyond the work of the Large Lake program. Data and samples from this program have been used by researchers to quantify the impacts of zebra mussels and spiny waterflea on these lakes (Kerfoot et al. 2016; Rantala et al. 2022; Bethke et al. 2023). Additionally, there are many unexplored applications of zooplankton data that will increase understanding of these important ecosystems.

INTRODUCTION

Minnesota's nine largest natural Walleye lakes (>10,000 ha) are some of the most precious freshwater resources in the state. Historically, they contribute to ~ 40% of the statewide Walleye harvest and act as important fishing waters to Minnesota recreationalists (MNDNR 1997). In 1983, the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (MNDNR) Section of Fisheries established the Large Lake Monitoring Program (LLP) which consists of annual collection, analysis, and reporting of fish population data to document long-term population trends, develop management recommendations, and engage in public outreach (MNDNR 1997). The sampling protocols were standardized to meet the LLP objectives and are further described in the Large Lake Sampling Guide (Wingate and Schupp 1984). The LLP has primarily focused on Walleye (*Sander vitreus*), Yellow Perch (*Perca flavescens*), and Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*) populations, but the Section continues to enhance fisheries assessments by including innovative methods and additional species in their programs.

As the LLP evolved, information from other (non-fish) trophic levels were incorporated to support the fish population monitoring. Crustacean zooplankton (hereafter zooplankton), for example, were collected periodically from some of the Large Lakes for over 20 years. Zooplankton are aquatic microorganisms that link lower (e.g., phytoplankton) and higher (e.g., fish) trophic levels in lakes. Zooplankton are useful indicators of lake productivity as their populations respond to algal dynamics and are a conduit of energy transfer from the lower to upper compartments in aquatic food webs (Rudstam et al. 1993; Johnson and Kitchell 1996, Gamble et al. 2011). Zooplankton are also subject to top-down forces, as fish species are zooplanktivorous either in early stages or throughout their life history (e.g., Cisco *Coregonus artedi*, Yellow Perch *Perca flavescens*, Walleye *Sander vitreus*; Mathias and Li 1982; Mills et al. 1986; Johnson and Kitchell 1996; Hoxmeier et al. 2004; Gamble et al. 2011; Uphoff et al. 2019; Gatch et al. 2021). Zooplankton are highly responsive to environmental change due to their size and short generation time (Rusak et al. 2002; Olden et al. 2006), so they serve as good predictors for stress-induced changes in fish abundance, growth, and survival.

Aquatic invasive species (hereafter AIS) were introduced to the Laurentian Great Lakes in the early 1800s and have dispersed inland to Minnesota's lakes and rivers within the last four decades (Mills et al. 1993; Escobar et al. 2017). Numerous studies demonstrated the threat of AIS to freshwater ecosystems and their ability to alter trophic interactions with zooplankton. For example, spiny waterflea (*Bythotrephes cederströmii,* synonym *Bythotrephes longimanus*) is known to directly predate on cladocerans, reducing native zooplankton biomass and diversity (Yan et al. 2002, Strecker et al. 2006). Zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) are also associated with reductions in native zooplankton abundance and biomass (Karatayev et al.

1997; Higgins and Vander Zanden 2010). With that in mind, a zooplankton monitoring component was established by the LLP when invasive zebra mussels were discovered in Lake Mille Lacs in 2006 and spiny waterflea were discovered in Lake of the Woods in 2007. Systematic data collection and zooplankton monitoring documented AIS-induced change among mid-trophic levels and may potentially detect change in other food web compartments. As a result, a formal zooplankton monitoring program was implemented for nine of the Large Lakes beginning in 2012 (Table 1). The zooplankton program excludes Lake Pepin, which is part of the Upper Mississippi River Long Term Resource Monitoring program and has its own zooplankton monitoring component.

The main goals of monitoring zooplankton in the LLP were to 1) develop a baseline of native zooplankton communities prior to AIS invasion, 2) monitor for the presence of AIS in tow samples, and 3) document the impacts of AIS on native zooplankton over time (Hirsch 2014). In general, fisheries managers and researchers use the zooplankton communities as sentinels to detect ecosystem-level changes to these waterbodies (Burdis and Hirsch 2005, Kerfoot et al. 2016, Burdis and Hirsch 2017, Rantala et al. 2022).

The zooplankton component of the LLP is a collaborative effort between MNDNR Fisheries-Large Lakes Specialists, who collect the samples, and the MNDNR Ecological and Water Resources (EWR) Lake Ecology Unit, which analyzes the samples. Additionally, biologists from Voyageurs National Park and Red Lake Nation DNR are partners on these efforts.

TABLE 1.—Characteristics of nine the Large Lakes in Minnesota. Infestation year of zebra mussels (ZM) and/or spiny waterflea (SWF) is based on the MNDNR infested waters list. Data sourced from MNDNR Infested Waters List [*date accessed Dec 2022*], Fisheries Survey Module, and MPCA. Chl-a = chlorophyll-a, P = total phosphorus.

				Depth (m)				
Lake name	Zooplankton sampling	Infestation year (species)	Area (ha)	Mean	Max	Secchi (m)	Chl-a (µg/L)	P (µg/L)
Cass	2012–2021	2014 (ZM)	6,458	8	37	3.5	7.2	22.6
Kabetogama	2001–2003, 2007–2010, 2013–2021	2007 (SWF)	9,726	9	24	2.4	7.8	37.9
Lake of the Woods ^a	1994–1999, 2007–2021	2007 (SWF), 2019 (ZM)	123,666	8	64	1.1	7.4	29.7
Leech	2012–2021	2016 (ZM)	41,700	6	46	3.1	3.9	16.8
Mille Lacs	2006–2021	2005 (ZM), 2009 (SWF)	51,902	9	13	3.1	3.8	26.4
Rainy ^a	2001–2003, 2007–2010, 2013–2021	2007 (SWF), 2021 (ZM)	18,046	10	49	2.5	3.8	22

				Depth (m)				
Lake name	Zooplankton sampling	Infestation year (species)	Area (ha)	Mean	Max	Secchi (m)	Chl-a (µg/L)	P (µg/L)
Red (Upper only)	1999–2000, 2012–2021	2019 (ZM)	19,425	4	5	1.8	13.8	45.3
Vermilion	2011–2021	2015 (SWF)	15,893	6	23	2.6	6	25.9
Winnibigoshish	2012–2021	2013 (ZM)	22,854	5	21	2.5	5.4	22

^aMinnesota waters only.

Justification and significance

This report synthesizes zooplankton data collected from the LLP over the last 10 years (2012–2021), when annual sampling was conducted consistently across all lakes. When summarizing individual lakes, we examined historic records prior to 2012 if data were available. In total there have been ~3,730 samples collected and analyzed for zooplankton within the LLP, providing a robust dataset for assessing community changes within each lake and among lakes. Historically, the zooplankton data were summarized in MNDNR Large Lakes annual reports (e.g., Nelson 2022) to complement fish population trends and used in several publications to answer research-guided questions (Burdis and Hirsch 2005; Kerfoot et al. 2016; Burdis and Hirsch 2017; Staples et al. 2017; Hansen et al. 2020; Rantala et al. 2022; Bethke et al. 2023). However, to date there is no syntheses evaluating the long-term dataset of zooplankton for all the Large Lakes within the program. Some topics of interest that we investigated for the current synthesis include:

- How have AIS altered zooplankton community structure?
- Are the current methods sufficient to detect change?
- Which lakes are important in terms of continued zooplankton monitoring?

The goal of this effort is to generally summarize a decade of data, explore the implications of AIS on zooplankton communities, and develop recommendations to maximize the utility of zooplankton sampling for the LLP.

Objectives

- 1. We described trends in zooplankton production, community structure, and biomass among lakes exposed to one or more AIS (i.e., zebra mussel, spiny waterflea, or both).
- 2. We examined seasonal variability in zooplankton biomass and compared trends among taxonomic groups and lake invasion status.
- 3. We described lake-specific trends in zooplankton communities.
- 4. We estimated minimum sample sizes needed for detecting trends and changes in the zooplankton biomass.
- 5. For each zooplankton species, we estimated the minimum number of individuals to measure for detecting changes in biomass.

METHODS

Field Protocol. — Whole water column vertical tows were collected by MNDNR Large Lake Specialists and local partners for each lake. All samples were collected using a 30-cm opening, 80-µm mesh plankton net. Vertical zooplankton tows were taken at pre-selected sites within a lake, depending upon lake size and morphology. Sites were chosen based on the deepest locations in the main body of lake and in other significant bays. *Refer to* Table A.2— *Metadata for sampling effort by lake and Figure A.1–A.8* — *Site maps by lake.*

At each site, a zooplankton net was lowered from an anchored boat until the cod end (end with sample container) was approximately 0.5 m from the lake bottom. The net was then hauled vertically at 0.5 to 1 m/s until it reached the surface. Samples were rinsed into a plastic Nalgene bottle and preserved with 95–100% reagent-grade denatured ethyl alcohol. Tows were typically collected every two weeks in May and June and monthly from July through October. There were some exceptions to the timing of this sampling, which are noted in the individual lake results.

Laboratory Protocol. — Samples were processed by taxonomists in the MNDNR EWR Biology Laboratory. Sample volumes were adjusted to a known volume (typically between 100–2000 mL) by filtering through 80-µm mesh netting and rinsing specimens into a graduated beaker. Water was added to the beaker to a volume that provides at least 150–200 organisms per 5-ml aliquot. The beaker was then swirled in a figure-eight motion to ensure thorough mixing. A 5-ml aliquot was drawn from each sample using a bulb pipet and transferred to a counting grid. Individual zooplankton specimens were identified, counted, and measured using a dissecting microscope (at 25x magnification) and a computerized image analysis system (called "ZOOPS", developed by the MNDNR). A compound microscope was used to aid in species identification (or the lowest practical taxonomic group, 10–63x magnification). Immature copepods were identified and counted as nauplii or copepodites. Additionally, due to the difficulty associated with identifying diaptomids to the genus level, *Leptodiaptomus minutus* and *Skistodiaptomus oregonensis* were identified and reported at the family level, Diaptomidae. We used taxonomic keys from Brooks (1957), Edmondson (1959), Balcer et al. (1984), Hudson et al. (2003), and Haney et al. (2013).

The samples were also examined for the presence and abundance of spiny waterflea (*B. cederströmii*, synonym *B. longimanus*), zebra mussel (*D. polymorpha*) veligers and a large predatory zooplankton, *Leptodora kindtii*, prior to zooplankton processing as described above. In most cases, the whole sample was examined due to the low abundance and/or larger size for all three species. Total counts were made using a gridded petri dish or counting chamber. All veliger analyses were done using a dissecting microscope (at 20x magnification) with a cross polarized light (Johnson 1995).

Data processing. — Density (number/L), biomass (μ g/L), percent composition by number and weight, mean length (mm), mean weight (μ g), and total count of each taxon identified in each sample was generated by the ZOOPS analysis system and was recorded in the EWR zooplankton database. Mean weight and biomass estimates were calculated using published length-weight regression coefficients (Dumont et al. 1975; Culver et al. 1985). Individual sample reports (PDF files) and Excel summary reports were submitted to the LLP annually and were generated from this system. The data are archived in the EWR zooplankton database.

We aggregated taxa into 5 major functional groups based on Heiskary et al. (2016): small cladocerans, large Daphnia spp. (Daphnia pulicaria and Daphnia galeata mendotae), Holopedium, adult calanoid copepods, and adult cyclopoid copepods (Table A.3). In certain instances, immature copepods were included in the analyses as a sixth group since they are potential food sources for predacious zooplankton. The larger zooplankton, L. kindtii, and spiny waterflea were not included in the functional groups or total zooplankton biomass or density estimates because they were inconsistently reported and measured over time. To date, 3 staff members have analyzed the samples, providing a highly consistent and dependable dataset. We used a PERMANOVA (permutational multivariate analysis of variance) to test for an "analyst effect" in the dataset related to species and life stage identification, specifically for differences between the 2 main analysts (Jodie Hirsch and Kylie Cattoor) in the taxonomic resolution of organisms. There was a significant difference between analysts in the identification of adult and immature copepods that explained some of the differences in abundance and biomass among years in the dataset ($p < 0.01^*$; Figure 1). The analyst effect, however, was not observed for cladocerans (density; P = 0.94, biomass; P = 0.52). To account for these discrepancies, we applied a correction to copepod density and biomass data from 2020 and 2021 by using estimates based on a linear mix effects model (Table A.4).



FIGURE 1.—Boxplots comparing relative densities and biomass (proportions of total) of immature (nauplii and copepodites) and adult copepods (calanoid and cyclopoid) by analyst. Blue color represents data analyzed by Jodie Hirsch collected in 2018 and 2019. Yellow color represents data analyzed by Kylie Cattoor collected in 2020 and 2021. Each box represents the interquartile range, with the median represented by a bold horizontal line. Whiskers represent the range of the data, and outliers are plotted as black circles.

Zooplankton trends. —We used data from 2012–2021 (n = 10 years) to compare zooplankton trends across all lakes. We used all available data when examining changes pre- and post-invasion of spiny waterflea and/or zebra mussels for both individual lakes and when comparing invasion scenarios. Annual averages were calculated by taking the mean for each sample date, the mean for each month, and then summarized into year. We restricted our analysis to samples collected from May to October, unless otherwise noted.

In several of the analyses we compared zooplankton metrics among different invasion scenarios related to zebra mussels and spiny waterflea (i.e., uninvaded, zebra mussel invaded, spiny waterflea invaded, or both zebra mussel and spiny waterflea invaded). We assigned invasion status by using information from the MNDNR infested waters list (https://www.dnr.state.mn.us/invasives/ais/infested.html). We considered lakes infested with spiny waterflea the year its presence was confirmed in the lakes. We defined lakes to be ecologically impacted three years after zebra mussels were confirmed in-lake (i.e., three-year lag). We also considered a two-year lag for zebra mussels. These lag times were based on work summarizing zebra mussel population dynamics from multiple systems in the Northern Hemisphere (Strayer at al. 2019). Rainy Lake, listed as infested with zebra mussels in 2021, and Red Lake, listed in 2019, were treated as "spiny waterflea only" and "uninvaded", respectively, lakes in the analyses. No zebra mussel veligers were found in the LLP samples from Rainy Lake in 2021, however we would expect to find veligers in the future if the zebra mussel population grows in this system. We analyzed the two basins of Lake Vermilion (East and West) separately because they differed in the timing of invasion.

We used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) to identify patterns in the zooplankton communities among lakes. Taxa were summarized by lake, and years were grouped as either pre- or post-invasion. We applied a 3-year lag before considering a lake invaded by zebra mussels, as mentioned above. We used zooplankton biomass data rather than density and applied the Wisconsin transformation (Oksanen et al. 2022). Biomass is considered a better representation of ecosystem-level effects on other trophic levels and would reduce the influence of abundant but low individual biomass of immature copepods. We used Bray-Curtis dissimilarity estimates to compare zooplankton community structure among lake and pre- and post-invasion groups in a pairwise approach. We then ran a cluster analysis and a permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) test to identify groups or clusters of lake-pre/post invasion that were similar in community structure and included zooplankton taxa that contributed to the first 50%–75% these patterns. We used the R package *vegan* (Oksanen et al. 2022) for the multivariate analyses.

Secondary production is the formation of heterotrophic biomass through time. It integrates multiple metrics of population success, including birth rate, death rate, fecundity, growth rate, and reproduction (along with other measures), making it a holistic way to measure changes to populations and communities (Benke 1993). We modelled zooplankton production using the size-frequency method (Guerrero and Rodriguez 1994). Many zooplankton are parthenogenetic, and most can have multiple broods over the summer, so following a cohort is not possible. The size-frequency method uses population size-demographics to recreate an average cohort for each summer using length data from individual zooplankton taxa. Length data were converted to biomass as described in a previous section. We made a temperature-specific correction for generation time using a published model (Gillooly 2000) and used modelled daily temperature profile data (Corson-Dosch et al. 2023). We modified code from Cross et al. (2011) for the

analyses, which uses bootstrapping (1,000 iterations) to estimate annual production and error for each taxon-lake-year combination by choosing random subsamples, with replacement, on each date. For within-lake trends in zooplankton production, we grouped cladocerans and calanoid copepods together as "grazing zooplankton" for one analysis and tested trends in cyclopoid copepods separately, as "predatory zooplankton". We used a non-parametric, monotonic trend analysis (Mann-Kendall test, 1-sided) to test for declines in production and estimated the slope of the trend using a Sen's slope estimate. We used the *trend* package in R for these analyses (Pohlert 2023).

We assessed the impact of zebra mussels and/or spiny waterflea on native cladoceran, calanoid, and cyclopoid copepod production with a generalized linear mixed-effects model. We included random variables for each lake and each year. The model was fit using the R package *Ime4* (Bates et al. 2015). We used Akaike Information Criterion for model selection. We re-ran the selected model using restricted maximum likelihood (REML) to obtain unbiased estimates. We plotted the model results using simulated data from the final models, holding random variables constant. We estimated 95% confidence intervals via bootstrapping (250 iterations) using the bootMer() function in that same package. We log-transformed the response (production, μ g L⁻¹ d⁻¹) to fit the data to a Gaussian distribution.

Seasonal variability in zooplankton communities is an important consideration in the context of food web dynamics. To explore the impacts on seasonal patterns of native cladoceran (separated into Large Daphnia spp. and small cladocerans), calanoid, and cyclopoid copepod biomass, we used a generalized additive model. We estimated taxon-specific biomass using published length-mass relationships, as described above. To account for seasonal asynchrony related to latitudinal position of the lakes (46.226° N -49.020° N, Lake Milles Lacs and Lake of the Woods, respectively), we modelled time using both day-of-year and cumulative degree days. We used modelled water temperature data to estimate cumulative degree days in base 0 °C (Corson-Dosch et al. 2023). We defined invasion status as described above. We included a random effect for lake and a factor-smooth for a time-invasion status interaction. We logtransformed the response (biomass, µg/L) to fit the data to a Gaussian distribution. We used AIC and examination of modeling-checking functions to select the final model. We used the R package mgcv to build the GAM (Wood 2011, 2017; Wood et al. 2016). We re-ran the selected model using REML to obtain unbiased estimates. We plotted the results of the model by simulating the data using the REML models, holding the random variables constant, and presenting biomass estimates as a percentage of the modeled median biomass of uninvaded lakes through the time series. We plotted the model results this way to generalize the results for all lakes, instead of plotting each lake separately.

We examined lake-specific trends in zooplankton communities in several ways. We quantified annual zooplankton density and/or biomass (total or average) as a time series. We calculated the Theil-Sen slope based on daily zooplankton estimates and tested for a single change point in the time series by using the Pettitt's test. Finally, we visualized zooplankton biomass and production by functional groups alongside spiny waterflea and/or zebra mussel annual densities. See above for more detail on secondary production calculations. We performed a similar NMDS for each individual lake. We used zooplankton density data and applied either the Wisconsin or square root transformation to the dataset. We used Bray-Curtis dissimilarity estimates to compare zooplankton community structure among years. In addition, taxonomic diversity for

each lake was calculated using the Shannon diversity index. We then tested for changes in diversity across years using analysis of variance (ANOVA).

Data analysis to assess sample effort and efficiencies. —We restricted our analyses to data collected from 2012–2021 (n = 10 years). To assess zooplankton measurement effort needed for biomass estimates, we used length measurements and dry weight estimates across all samples to explore variation in length and dry weight for individual taxa. The following formula was used to calculate the number of measurements needed (*n*) given an estimate of the standard deviation (σ) to have 95% confidence (Z = 1.96) that the observed average length was within 10% of the true average length (d = 0.1*mean length of all individuals in the dataset):

$$n = \frac{Z^2 \sigma^2}{d^2}$$

Nauplii and copepodites made up ~ 38% of all zooplankton individuals counted in the LLP samples, indicating they made a large contribution to the time spent processing samples, and could, through their number, have significant impacts on estimates of total biomass. With this in mind, we explored total sample biomass estimates under three scenarios of measurement effort (n = 2,786 samples); 1) the same number of individuals measured in all taxa, 2) measuring a specified number of nauplii, plus all individuals of other taxa, and 3) measuring a specified number of nauplii and copepodites, plus all individuals of other taxa. The resulting estimates were then compared to the observed total sample biomass.

For investigating levels of sampling effort necessary for zooplankton monitoring in the future, we conducted power analyses for detecting changes in average annual total biomass across all samples from May to September within each lake. To quantify uncertainty in annual average total biomass estimates, the biomass data were log-transformed and modeled as a function of month and site with a random year effect, representing the average annual zooplankton biomass. The analytic standard error estimates for the year effects from the mixed effect model were used to represent uncertainty in annual biomass estimates (Figure 2). We then ran a power analysis with the model to estimate how uncertainty in annual total biomass estimates changes with reduced or increased sampling effort.



FIGURE 2.—Example showing temporal changes in total biomass for Rainy Lake 2007–2021 with 85% confidence intervals representing model precision (non-overlapping confidence intervals are different at the α = 0.05 level).

To evaluate how reduced sampling within each month affected the power to detect changes in biomass, the data were bootstrapped 2000 times by taking *n* samples at random from each month/year combination for n = [3, 5, 7, 9 samples] representing varying levels of monthly sampling effort. For each level of *n*, this generated 2000 data sets at each sampling effort level to which the model was re-fit, and the Year Effect estimates and their estimated SEs were recorded. The precision of Year Effect estimates for reduced sampling effort levels was calculated by averaging the analytically derived SE estimates from each of the 2000 model fits, which was then used to calculate power for detecting a 30–50% decrease in biomass in a 1-sided test (Figure 3).



FIGURE 3.—Example output of a power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in individual lakes to detect a 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.

All analyses were done in the statistical software program R (R Development Core Team 2009), and use of additional R packages was mentioned above where relevant. Figures were produced using the package ggplot2 (Wickham 2016).

RESULTS & DISCUSSION

Programmatic Summary of Zooplankton Communities

A total of 33 zooplankton taxa (including 1 invasive) were identified in the nine Large Lakes with an average of 21 taxa/lake (<u>Table A.3</u>). Cyclopoid copepods in Lake Mille Lacs were identified only to order (Order Cyclopoida) for continuity with previous time series data. We consolidated certain taxa into larger groups when we found redundancy (e.g. *Alona* spp. and *Alona setulosa* were all considered *Alona* spp.). A detailed summary of the number of samples and individuals collected in the Large Lake Program can be found in <u>Table A.2</u> and <u>A.3</u>.

From 2012–2021, zooplankton density and biomass varied both within and among lakes (Table 2). Red Lake, Lake Mille Lacs, and Rainy Lake had the lowest average densities (<15 individuals/L) and biomass (<41 μ g/L) in the time series. All lakes are primarily dominated by copepods and their immature forms (up to 89% relative abundance). Interestingly, Red Lake with the lowest density and biomass, had the largest proportion of cladocerans (~46% relative abundance).

	Density (#/L)		Biomass (µ		
Lake	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	n
Red	0.3–55.7	7.9	1.1–104.4	17.8	100
Mille Lacs	0.8–63.7	13.5	2.7–160.8	34.5	74
Rainy	2.4–43.9	13.8	6.8–173.8	40.3	73
Cass	8.3–55.4	22.7	16.7–126	69.0	68
Lake of the Woods	3.3–68.6	23.6	4–183.6	66.1	67
Kabetogama	3.3–193	25.0	9.9–1793.6	98.9	61
Leech	13.3–49.5	27.6	25.5–169.3	78.1	73
Vermilion	16.7–123.8	40.7	25.2–276.1	111.1	73
Winnibigoshish	12–117.2	58.2	18.1–370.6	139.9	68

TABLE 2.—Summary of native zooplankton collected from 2012–2021 in Minnesota's nine Large Lakes. Lakes are ordered by increasing mean density.

Impacts of AIS

Since 2007, spiny waterflea invasions were confirmed in 5 of the Large Lakes (Figure 4). We determined qualitative levels of spiny waterflea abundance based on a univariate cluster analysis (with the number of clusters; k=3). We designated lake infestation status as follows; critical (1–27 number/m³), severe (28–121 number/m³), and extreme (>121 number/m³). All spiny waterflea lakes reached *severe* level densities during year 0–4 of known infestation. Lake of the Woods and Rainy Lake reached *extreme* level densities by year 8–11. The spiny

waterflea densities are undoubtably underestimates because plankton samples were collected during daylight hours. Like many zooplankton, spiny waterflea exhibit diel vertical migration behaviors, and predatory zooplankton densities have been documented to be ~775% greater at night compared to daytime densities in freshwater lake systems (Doubek et al. 2020).

Given that the timing of detection and magnitude of spiny waterflea densities varied over time, it is not surprising that native zooplankton impacts also varied among lakes. In general, there is an inverse relationship between spiny waterflea and native zooplankton densities and biomass (Figure 5a, 5b). We observed a significant decline in native zooplankton density and biomass post-invasion in spiny waterflea lakes (Table A.5). These included declines in the major functional groups (i.e. cladocerans, cyclopoid, and calanoid copepods). Spiny waterflea consume small-bodied, slow, herbivorous cladocerans and are known to reduce species richness, biomass, and abundance of this group (Yan et al. 2001; Boudreau and Yan 2003; Strecker and Arnott 2008). As reported from other studies (Kerfoot et al. 2016, Cutter et al. 2023), spiny waterflea impacts on copepods were varied, with declines in cyclopoids and immature copepods demonstrated in some systems.

As of 2022, zebra mussels were confirmed in five of the Large Lakes based on presence of veligers, adults, or both. Veligers are monitored by collection in zooplankton tows, which indirectly provide information on the in-lake zebra mussel populations. In general, we observed a wide range of densities that vary among year and lake especially when densities are low (Figure 6). Veliger abundances typically peak in mid-June thru July and are temperature dependent (water temperatures reach $\geq 60^{\circ}$ F before veligers appear; Montz et al. 2021). Lake of the Woods and Red Lake had extremely low densities of veligers (~ 0.001–0.10 individuals/L) and were only found in select locations and during some sample events in their respective lakes. To date, the location and presence of adult zebra mussels in Lake of the Woods and Red Lake are unknown. Only the population in Lake Mille Lacs is surveyed regularly as part of the Large Lake Monitoring program. Jones and Montz (2020) noted that while veligers initially increased with adult density, veliger density was not a reliable predictor of adult abundance over time. We cannot infer the long-term dynamics of zebra mussel adults from veliger densities, which makes understanding their impacts challenging (Strayer et al. 2019).

In general, zebra mussel-infested lakes in this study are still in their 'early' invasion years, so the impacts of zebra mussels vary among lakes. Lakes Winnibigoshish, Mille Lacs, and Cass have the greatest densities of zebra mussel veligers (~10–266/L) and data show inverse relationships between veliger and native zooplankton densities (Figure 7a, 7b). The other lakes, such as Lake of the Woods, Leech Lake, and Red Lake, will likely require more time to detect noticeable patterns, given the short length of time zebra mussels have been present in those lakes. We observed a significant increase in overall zooplankton density post-invasion by zebra mussels, but no change in overall zooplankton biomass (Table A.5), when we pooled data from all the lakes. For calanoid copepods, we detected a significant increase in both density and biomass post-invasion in lakes with zebra mussels.

Interestingly, the post-invasion zooplankton communities in all the lakes (except for Lake Winnibigoshish) are changing in similar ways (shifting towards the northwest quadrant of the ordination, Figure 8) with reductions in *D. galeata mendotae*, diaptomid, and *Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi* biomass. The cluster analysis identified two zooplankton community clusters from the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix calculated from taxa biomasses for eight of the nine lakes (P < 0.01; Figure 8), and pre- and post-invasion patterns are consistent among the

lakes. Lake Mille Lacs was excluded from the analysis due to a lower resolution in adult cyclopoid taxonomy compared to the other lakes. Certain lakes show similar zooplankton communities, possibly related to their geographic proximity to one another (i.e. Leech and Cass). However, other lakes did not (e.g., Rainy and Kabetogama) and fell into distinctly different community clusters. Interestingly, Rainy and Kabetogama have similar slopes and trajectories from pre- to post-invasion. It isn't clear why lakes were grouped into the two clusters, i.e., why the communities of certain lakes more alike than others? It is likely that zooplankton communities are shaped by multiple lake characteristics, including habitat, food resources, predation, lake morphometry, and/or other factors (Brooks and Dodson 1965; Vanni 1987; Dodson et al. 2009). Changing climate and increased climate variability may also be a factor in the patterns we saw, even during this relatively short time series dataset. We will continue to monitor shifts in community structure overtime as more post-invasion data become available for each lake system. It is possible that zooplankton communities in these lakes will 'stabilize' or 'recover' once they have been exposed to the invasive species for long periods of time and possibly shift toward a community of zooplankton that is less sensitive or resistant to invasive species impacts (Strayer 2006; Karatayev et al. 2023).

Taxon-specific responses. —We found a varied response of the daily production of native zooplankton groups across the lakes under different invasion scenarios compared to production in lakes with neither zebra mussels or spiny waterflea (labeled as "Neither" in plots) after accounting for variability related to lake identity or annual differences (Figure 9a). Small cladoceran production, but not production of large *Daphnia* spp., was reduced in the presence of spiny waterflea and both spiny waterflea and zebra mussels (P < 0.001; Figure 9b). Calanoid production was reduced in the presence of zebra mussels or spiny waterflea (P < 0.05), and cyclopoid production declined when either invasive invertebrate was found, including together (P < 0.05). We did not test for differences in production between lakes with different combinations of the two invasive invertebrates.

The varied relationships of native zooplankton production to the two invasive invertebrates are likely due to a couple of different processes. Declines may be due to competition with zebra mussels (Strayer et al. 1999; Miehls et al. 2009) or spiny waterflea (Kerfoot et al. 2016) for food, and/or predation, especially of small cladocerans, by spiny waterflea (Lehman and Cáceres 1993; Barbiero and Tuchman 2004; Kerfoot et al. 2016). Zebra mussels may also consume copepod nauplii, reducing population size (Vanderploeg et al. 1993; Schulz and Yurista 1999; Dumitru et al. 2001). Additionally, some taxa or early life stages may be vulnerable to consumption by zebra mussels due to their size (MacIsaac et al. 1991, 1995; Pace et al. 1998). Finally, it is possible that in lakes with spiny waterflea, mate limitation is reducing the production of overwintering life stages via sexual reproduction (Kerfoot et al. 2016).

Seasonal patterns of change. —We found that not only do zebra mussels and spiny water flea have impacts on native zooplankton production integrated across the summer, but there are also impacts on biomass that vary within the open water season (Figure 10, Table A.6). In general, zooplankton biomass was reduced in the presence of either or both invasive invertebrates relative to the average summer biomass in non-infested lakes. Reduction of cladoceran and cyclopoid biomass (inferred from effect size, Table A.7) was greater when both invasives were present relative to lakes with single-species invasions. There was also a time (measured in cumulative degree days, base 0 °C)-invasion status interaction, so that the magnitude of the effects of the invasives varied throughout the summer. At some points, there

was no discernable effect of the presence of the invasive species. For example, in late spring/early summer, calanoid biomass is the same, regardless of invasion status of the lakes. It is worth noting that the best-fit model for seasonal calanoid biomass included time as represented by day-of-year, not cumulative degree days. We presented the calanoid model results with time as cumulative degree days, however, for consistency among the seasonal plots.

The seasonal pattern of the decline in biomass was similar among all zooplankton functional groups, with groups maintaining a smaller magnitude peak in biomass during early summer, although the timing may be shifted (e.g., calanoid plot, <u>Figure 10</u>). The modelled seasonal patterns of these groups indicate some increases in biomass nearing the end of the monitoring period. Presumably, the declines in biomass are via the same mechanisms that caused the decline in daily production, and in fact, biomass is an important component of production (Benke 1996). Interestingly, native zooplankton biomass was reduced in spiny water flea infested lakes in late spring and early summer, before the predatory zooplankton is detected in the zooplankton samples. It is possible that these populations are experiencing a predator-driven Allee effect, like other predator-prey systems (Gascoigne and Lipcius 2004; Kramer and Drake 2010), although this has not been documented where *Bythotrephes* is an invasive predator. However, more detailed analyses should be explored related to this effect.

Lake-Specific Summaries of Zooplankton Trends

Cass Lake (04003000) Beltrami Co.



There was an overall decline in zooplankton community density, biomass, and production over the last 10 years in Cass Lake (Figure 11; Thiel-Sen slope= -0.96 number L⁻¹ y⁻¹ and -5. μ g L⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001* for density and biomass; -1.4 μ g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹ and -1.1 μ g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.05 for each, for grazing and predatory zooplankton production, respectively. Zebra mussel veligers were first detected in 2014 and were observed as high as ~45 veligers/L by 2016. After the first year of invasion, zooplankton biomass declined from 52 μ g/L to 32 μ g/L and has not recovered since (Figure 12; 34.2 μ g/L as of 2021). This decline, however, was only marginally statistically significant (Pettitt's test for single change-point detection; *P* = 0.07). From 2012 through 2021, zooplankton community production ranged from 122–33.1 μ g L⁻¹ d⁻¹. Two temporal clusters were identified in the zooplankton community based on taxa and density (2012, 2020–2021 and 2013–2019; Figure 13). There was a significant increase in nauplii and *Tropocyclops prasinus mexicanus* in 2012, 2020–2021 compared to 2013–2019. Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi and diaptomids are the primary copepods in Cass Lake. Calanoid and cyclopoid copepods appear to be the most impacted from zebra mussel invasion. However, we did not observe a significant decrease in diversity overtime (Figure 14; *P* = 0.81). Lake Andrusia (04003800), which is connected to Cass Lake, is sampled annually in May (2012–2021). While this waterbody tends to have higher zooplankton biomass than Cass Lake and is a targeted site for walleye fry stocking efforts, the most recent years a dramatic decline in the abundance (-62%) and biomass (-83%) of zooplankton was observed (Figure 15).

Sample Recommendations. —We will continue to sample Lake Andrusia in May on an annual basis. Historically, Cass Lake has been sampled at four sites from May to September and occasionally into October. Based on the power analysis, we suggest reducing sampling to two sites per visit with two visits during the months of May and June and one visit during the months July–September (refer to <u>Table A.1</u> and <u>Figure A.9</u>).

Lake Kabetogama (69084500) St. Louis Co.



We were able to include additional data collected from 2001–2003 and 2007–2010 in our analyses. There has been an overall significant decline in zooplankton density, biomass, and production in the last 20 years (Figure 16; Thiel-Sen slope= -0.35 number L⁻¹ y⁻¹ and -0.47 µg L⁻ ¹ y⁻¹, P <0.001* for density and biomass; $-3.5 \mu g$ DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, P <0.05*, and $-2.6 \mu g$ DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y^{-1} , *P* <0.01^{*}, for grazing and predatory zooplankton production, respectively). Spiny waterflea was first detected in 2007 and has exhibited robust densities for more than a decade. While there are data gaps, both the zooplankton density and biomass declined following spiny waterflea invasion (Figure 17). Zooplankton production ranged from 9.7–148.8 µg L⁻¹ d⁻¹. Four temporal clusters were identified in the zooplankton community based on taxa and density and showed significantly distinct communities pre-, during, and post- spiny waterflea invasion (Figure 18; F = 4.25, $P < 0.01^*$). Daphnia galeata mendotae, copepodites, Tropocyclops prasinus mexicanus, Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi were the main taxa driving this pattern. While small cladocerans were not mentioned as strong contributors, community diversity declined following invasion, which included many of these taxa (Figure 19; F = 10.29, $P < 0.01^*$). There are concerns zebra mussels will establish in Lake Kabetogama as they were recently reported in Black Bay of Rainy Lake in 2021. While the spiny waterflea-zooplankton interactions are considered 'stable' with no major shifts in the last 10 years, we are interested in tracking additional synergistic impacts related to spiny waterflea, zebra mussels, and zooplankton in the coming years.

Sample Recommendations. —We will continue to sample Lake Kabetogama on an annual basis. Historically, sample collection has been coordinated with Voyageurs National Park (VNP). Collection includes sampling at one site with two visits during the month of June and one visit in May and in July–September (<u>Table A.1</u>). VNP recently received project funding for a 'Zooplankton Vulnerability Assessment to AIS' to conduct more intensive sampling. Given the unknown status of the zebra mussel invasion and other projects in progress, we recommend no changes to sampling in Lake Kabetogama at this time.

Lake of the Woods (39000200) Lake of the Woods/ Roseau Co.



We were able to include additional data collected from 1994–1998 and 2007–2012 into our analysis. Samples collected pre-2007, 2010, and 2012 were not included in the trend analyses due to low sample effort (<u>Table A.2</u>; <10 samples/season). Additionally, samples collected from 2008–2012 used a 150- μ m mesh plankton net that likely underestimated immature copepod abundance during the period.

There was an overall significant increase in zooplankton density and a significant decrease in zooplankton biomass since 2007 (Figure 20; Thiel-Sen slope= 1.06 number L⁻¹ y⁻¹ and –2.91 µg L^{-1} y⁻¹, r, P < 0.001*). The increase in total zooplankton density occurred within the last two years based on many immature copepods found in Muskeg Bay and Long Point. However, due to their size, the total zooplankton biomass did not change dramatically for those years and is the preferred metric for assessing long term trends in Lake of the Woods. Spiny waterflea was first detected in Lake of the Woods in 2007 with maximum densities >163 individuals/m³ observed in August of 2018. The annual mean density ranged between \sim 4–20 individuals/m³ over the last 10 years. The annual mean biomass of zooplankton was reduced from 145 to 62 µg/L within the first year of spiny waterflea invasion and has stayed between 32-73 µg/L annually since then (Figure 21). Zooplankton production was not estimated for Lake of the Woods, due to lack of available (observational or modelled) temperature data for the entire time series. Future work will use a combination of observational data and modelled temperature values utilizing surficial temperature collected by satellite. The zooplankton community shifted in the last two years due to the abundance of immature copepods, appearing more similar to pre-AIS invasion years Figure 22; apart from 1995). While two clusters were identified based on taxa and density, they were not significantly different (F = 1.73, P = 0.13). This was also true for diversity, based on the Shannon diversity index Figure 23; P = 0.23). Small cladocerans were significantly reduced following spiny waterflea invasion (Pettitt's test for single change-point detection in 2008, P <0.05*), but have increased since 2019.

More recently, zebra mussel veligers were found in Lake of the Woods at very low densities (<0.36 veligers/L). If the zebra mussel population becomes established, we would expect to see an increase in veliger density overtime. Typically, this can take anywhere from three to five years before zebra mussel veligers become more abundant (Strayer et al. 2019). At this point, zooplankton do not show compounding impacts from both invasive species. Since zebra mussel invasion, native zooplankton (specifically Cladocera) density has increased, suggesting a potential recovery for the group over the last three years.

Sample Recommendations. —We will continue to monitor zooplankton in relation to AIS expansion on an annual basis. Based on the power analysis, we will maintain zooplankton collection at three sites May thru September. Samples will be collected twice monthly in

May/June and reduced to one sample monthly from July to September (refer to <u>Table A.1</u> and <u>Figure A.10</u>).

Leech Lake (11020300) Cass Co.



There was an overall significant decline in zooplankton density, biomass, and production over the last 10 years (Figure 24; Thiel-Sen slope= -1.19 number L¹ y⁻¹ and -6.53 µg L⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001* for density and biomass; -1.6 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.01* for grazing zooplankton production.) The trend for predatory zooplankton was not significant (*P* = 0.11). In 2016, zebra mussel veligers were first detected in Leech Lake at low abundance (<0.05 veligers/L). After five years, the population started to expand, and densities were observed as high as ~9 veligers L⁻¹ in 2021. Zooplankton showed reductions in both density (22 to 14 number/L) and biomass (64 to 42 µg/L) within the first year of invasion (Figure 25). Since 2020, the mean biomass of zooplankton dropped below 28 µg/L with a significant increase in small-sized immature copepodites and a significant decrease in adult calanoid and cyclopoid copepods as well as large *Daphnia*. These include taxa such as diaptomids, *Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi* and *Daphnia galeata mendotae* (Figure 26). Zooplankton diversity has significantly decreased (Figure 27) and community production has ranged from 13.8–45.3 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ over the sampled years.

Sample Recommendations. — We will continue to sample Leech Lake on an annual basis. We will maintain zooplankton collection at five sites May thru October (<u>Table A.1</u>). We recommend sampling twice in May and June. The zebra mussel population continues to expand in Leech Lake and will be monitored seasonally in the coming years. A power analysis may be revisited once the zebra mussel population has stabilized.

Lake Mille Lacs (48000200) Mille Lacs Co.



The current analyses included data from 2006–2021, and we found a significant decline in zooplankton density, biomass, and production over the last 15 years (Figure 28; Thiel-Sen slope= -1.27 number L⁻¹ y⁻¹ and -2.68 μ g DM L⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001* for density and biomass; -3.2 μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.01*, and -2.4 μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001*, for grazing and predatory zooplankton production, respectively). Pettitt's test for single change-point detection showed a

significant change occurring in 2011 for all three zooplankton community metrics ($P < 0.05^*$). Both zebra mussels (since 2005) and spiny waterflea (since 2009) are well established in Lake Mille Lacs. Jones and Montz (2020) describe the population growth of adult zebra mussels and the associated impacts over the course of the invasion. Their analyses show adult density increasing exponentially through 2010 before the population came to an equilibrium. The veliger data from the lake, however, were not strongly correlated to the patterns observed in adult population growth. In the current dataset, annual mean zooplankton biomass declined after 2011, but does not show a strong relationship with the veliger density data (Figure 29). It should be noted that zooplankton monitoring did not begin until 2006, so it is not clear if the "preinvasion" state of the zooplankton community was captured in the early years of the monitoring. Zooplankton community production ranged from 4.0–99.8 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹over the sampled years.

Three main temporal clusters were identified in the zooplankton community based on taxa densities and showed significantly distinct communities pre- and post-invasion (Figure 30). Specifically, there was a significant reduction to several small cladoceran taxa (i.e. *Chydorus* sp., *Diaphanosoma, Ceriodaphnia* sp., *Daphnia retrocurva*) within the first years of spiny waterflea invasion which have yet to recover. In addition, cyclopoids and Bosmina sp. were the next to decline, with significant reductions in 2012 and from 2014–2016. Overall, diversity significantly changed since the invasion of spiny waterflea (Figure 31), primarily due to a loss of taxa in the small cladoceran group, a preferred prey of spiny waterflea, and cyclopoid group.

A more comprehensive food web analysis that includes zooplankton, spiny waterflea, and zebra mussel interactions is found in a recent publication by Rantala et al. (2022). The paper examines trends in water clarity under three invasion scenarios: prior to invasion by either zebra mussels or spiny waterflea, the period after zebra mussels were found in the lake, and the current scenario, where both of these invasive invertebrate species are found in the lake. Zooplankton and zebra mussel data from 2006–2018 and water clarity data from 2000–2018 were used in the analyses. That work found that the simultaneous increase in the zebra mussel and spiny waterflea populations resulted in no net change in water clarity, as algal grazing by native zooplankton was replaced by the filtering of algae by zebra mussels.

Sample Recommendations. —Lake Mille Lacs has a large zooplankton dataset documenting complex food web interactions associated with the co-invasion of zebra mussels and spiny waterflea. While sample effort has fluctuated to accommodate other projects and adaptive management decisions, we suggest continuing to sample annually, but reducing the number of sites from nine per visit to five sites per visit at a frequency of two visits per month in May and June and one visit per month from July thru September (refer to <u>Table A.1</u> and <u>Figure A.11</u>).

Rainy Lake (69069400) St. Louis Co.



We included additional data collected in 2001–2003 and 2007–2010 into our analysis of the Rainy Lake zooplankton community. There was a significant decline in zooplankton density and

biomass over the last 20 years (Figure 32; Thiel-Sen slope = -0.15 number L⁻¹ y⁻¹ and -0.82 µg DM L⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001* for density and biomass; -0.8 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.01*, and -0.5 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.01*, for grazing and predatory zooplankton production, respectively). When data from 2003 were removed due to abnormally high values in density and biomass, the Theil-Sen slope decreased however the trend remained significant. Spiny waterflea was first detected in Rainy Lake in 2007. Apart from 2015, when maximum densities were up to 396 individuals/m³, the annual mean density has been between ~5–13 individuals/m³ for more than a decade. While there are some data gaps, zooplankton density and biomass were reduced during the initial years of invasion (Figure 33), although this decline was not significant (Pettitt's test for single change-point detection; *P* = 0.08 and 0.07). Zooplankton community production ranged from 5.1–82.1 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ over the sampled years. There was a distinct difference in the zooplankton community based on taxa and density pre- to post-invasion with significant reductions in small cladocerans (e.g. *Bosmina* sp., *Eubosmina coregoni, Daphnia retrocurva*; Figure 34). In addition, zooplankton diversity significantly decreased post-invasion (Figure 35).

Zebra mussels were discovered in Rainy Lake in the fall of 2021. While the spiny waterfleazooplankton interactions have occurred since 2007, we will continue to track additional synergistic impacts related to spiny waterflea, zebra mussels, and zooplankton in the coming years.

Sample Recommendations. —We will continue to sample Rainy Lake on an annual basis in cooperation with Voyageurs National Park (VNP) biologists. Historically, samples were collected at five sites, one of which is sampled at 10-m and 30-m depths in the same vicinity (<u>Table A.1</u>). All sites are visited twice a month (except for site SE7) from May–June and once per month from July–September. VNP recently received funding for a project entitled 'Zooplankton Vulnerability Assessment to AIS' to conduct more intensive sampling. Given the unknown impacts of the zebra mussel invasion in the lake and other projects in progress, we recommend no changes to sampling in Rainy Lake.

Red Lake (04003500) Beltrami Co.



There was an overall increase in zooplankton density and biomass over the last 10 years (Figure 36; Thiel-Sen slope = 0.85 number L⁻¹y⁻¹ and 1.69 µg DM L⁻¹ y⁻¹, $P < 0.001^*$). Grazing zooplankton (but not predatory zooplankton, P = 0.24) production in Upper Red Lake increased over the past decade (Thiel-Sen slope = 1.0 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, $P < 0.05^*$), and but production in Lower Red Lake did not change (P = 0.08 and P = 0.19, for grazing and predatory zooplankton, respectively). Zebra mussel veligers were only detected in Red Lake in recent years. They were first found in the upper basin in 2018, so both basins were listed as infested in 2019. To date, veliger densities remain low (<0.11 veligers/L) and the veligers are not found lakewide. Compared to the other Large Lakes, the total zooplankton density and biomass were low in Red

Lake (Figure 37; Table 2). Zooplankton biomass dramatically declined in 2013 and 2014 for unknown reasons and has increased since that time. Zooplankton community production ranged from 1.3–25.0 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ in Upper Red Lake and 1.3–21.8 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ in Lower Red Lake from 2012–2021. The zooplankton community analysis also detected low species densities in 2013–2014 (Figure 38). Specifically, there was a significant reduction in *Bosmina* sp., *Chydorus* sp., *Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi* and *Daphnia retrocurva* after 2012, but these have slowly recovered since that time. In the last two years, there was an increase in copepodites and *Bosmina* sp. Diversity did change over time, with up to 18 taxa observed in 2021 (Figure 39; *F* = 2.57, *P* = 0.15). Calanoids and cyclopoids continue to thrive in Red Lake but should be monitored closely as these two groups can be impacted after zebra mussel invasion.

Sample Recommendations. —We will continue to sample Red Lake annually in cooperation with the Red Lake Nation. The MNDNR and the Red Lake Nation have held a strong working relationship since the 1990s. Based on the power analyses, we will continue to sample at three sites per basin with two visits per month in May and June. It is possible to reduce the number of visits to one per month in July– September (refer to <u>Table A.1</u> and <u>Figure A.12</u>). DNR will work closely with the Red Lake Nation before implementing any changes. There are additional veliger sampling sites coordinated with the Red Lake Nation and the MNDNR aquatic invertebrate biologist that will continue to be used in the assessment of zooplankton dynamics.

Lake Vermilion (69037800) St. Louis Co.



East Basin. — There was an overall decrease in zooplankton density, biomass, and predatory zooplankton production over the last 10 years (Figure 40; Thiel-Sen slope= -1.31 number L⁻¹ y⁻¹ and -11.61 µg DM L⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001* for density and biomass; -1.9 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ y⁻¹, *P* <0.001* for production). The trend for grazing zooplankton production was not significant (*P* = 0.07). Spiny waterflea were first detected in the East Basin of Lake Vermilion in 2015. In 2017, maximum densities were observed at 53 individuals/m³. Annual mean zooplankton biomass declined from 99 to 46 µg/L in 2016 (Figure 41). Zooplankton community production ranged from 8.7–99.0 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹. Small cladoceran were most impacted by spiny waterflea invasion. Biomass was <1 µg/L for this group from 2017–2018 and 2020–2021. There was a significant increase (*P* <0.05*) in *Tropocyclops prasinus mexicanus* and immature copepods in 2020–2021 (Figure 42), but in general, diversity did not change over time (Figure 43, *P* = 0.08).

West Basin. — There was an overall increase in zooplankton density and biomass over the last 10 years (Figure 40; Thiel-Sen slope= 1.87 number L⁻¹y⁻¹ and 1.51 µg DM L⁻¹ y⁻¹, $P < 0.001^*$). Production declined through time (range 13.8–90.6 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹), but the trend was not significant (Figure 41; P = 0.08 and P = 0.24, for grazing and predatory zooplankton, respectively). Although spiny waterflea were found in the East Basin of Lake Vermilion in 2015, it was not until 2018 that they were detected in the West Basin. Since the 2018 detection, spiny

waterflea dynamics have been similar in both basins. Maximum spiny waterflea densities were observed at 46 individuals/m³ in 2021. While there appears to be a 3-year lag between the two basins, the West Basin will likely achieve similar densities and potentially progress more quickly in the next few years. Recently, there were no large shifts in zooplankton density or biomass in the West Basin (Pettitt's test, P = 0.49). During the last year included in the time series, 2021, *Tropocyclops prasinus mexicanus* and immature copepods increased, however these trends were not significant (Figure 42; P = 0.08). This pattern was observed in the East Basin and might be due to seasonal variability rather than spiny waterflea dynamics. Diversity significantly increased, especially in the last year (Figure 43, $P < 0.05^*$). We expect to see a decline in small cladoceran abundance and biomass as the spiny waterflea population grows. Historically, the West Basin has had higher densities of small cladocerans compared to the East Basin, so the impacts of spiny waterflea in the West Basin may be greater by comparison.

Sample Recommendations. —We will continue to sample Lake Vermilion annually at two sites per basin. The West Basin could benefit from an additional sample site if time and resources allow. There will be two visits per month in May–June and one visit per month in July thru September (refer to <u>Table A.1</u> and <u>Figure A.13</u>). If spiny waterflea become well established in both basins and the zooplankton community does not change, it may be possible to reduce sample collection and/or analyses to every two to three years.

Lake Winnibigoshish (11014700) Cass Co.



The results summarize data collected from Lake Winnibigoshish and Lake Cut Foot Sioux (hereafter included as part of Lake Winnibigoshish). There was a significant decline in the density and biomass of zooplankton over the last 10 years (Figure 44; Thiel-Sen slope= -2.47 number $L^{-1}y^{-1}$ and -12.51 µg DM $L^{-1}y^{-1}$, P <0.001*). Zebra mussel veligers were first detected in Lake Winnibigoshish in 2012, and the waterbody was listed as infested in 2013. During the initial years of invasion, the annual mean density of veligers was low (< 2 veligers/L; from 2012-2016). Starting in 2017, veliger densities began to increase and were observed as high as ~38 veligers/L by 2021. In 2017, zooplankton biomass declined from 114 to 43 µg DM/L (Figure 45). The zooplankton community production ranged from 33.3–89.3 µg DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹ over the sampled years, with no trend through time detected (P = 0.08 and P = 0.11, for grazing and predatory zooplankton, respectively). Two temporal clusters were identified in the zooplankton community based on taxa and density (Figure 46). While the clusters do not align with pre- and post-zebra mussel invasion periods, there appears to be several episodic shifts in the zooplankton community structure that deserve further investigation. Immature copepods, Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi, Daphnia galeata mendotae, and Bosmina sp. represented ~ 70% of the community in Lake Winnibigoshish over the last 10 years. While there was some annual variability, diversity did not significantly changed over time (Figure 47; P = 0.75). Calanoids appeared to be impacted the most by zebra mussel invasion. Unlike other functional groups (i.e. large *Daphnia* spp. and cyclopoids) that have rebounded, calanoid biomass remained below 30 μ g/L since 2017.

Sample Recommendations. —Given the zebra mussel population is well established and no large changes to the zooplankton community were observed over the last five years, we recommend shifting to a two- or three-year sample rotation starting in 2023. We also recommend reducing from five sites to four sites in Lake Winnibigoshish (refer to <u>Table A.1</u> and <u>Figure A.14</u>). We will continue to maintain the site in Cut Foot Sioux Lake. Cut Foot Sioux is a deeply stratified waterbody that flows directly into Lake Winnibigoshish. Samples should be collected during two visits per month in May and June and one visit per month in July–September.

Sample Effort and Efficiencies

Some taxa vary considerably in their measured length and estimated dry weight (Figure 48). Dry weight estimates were relatively more variable than length measurements. Taxa required on average ~30 measurements to be confident (95%) that the average measured length is within 10% of the actual average (95% of all estimates of n are between 13 and 49; Table A.8).

Simulations of total sample biomass where nauplii length estimates were replaced with the taxonomic averages across all samples in the analyses revealed that variation in nauplii length has an extremely small effect on estimates of total sample biomass (Figure 49). Relative to other taxa, variation in nauplii length (median = $191 \,\mu$ m, 95% range between 115 and $316 \,\mu$ m) and dry weight (median = $0.18 \mu g$, 95% range between 0.08 and 0.42 μm) was extremely low. Copepodites were larger and more variable in measured length (median = 434 µm, 95% range between 254 and 799 µm) and estimated dry weight (median = 0.83 µg, 95% range between 0.45 and 3.1 µg) than nauplii. Nauplii are small, with an extremely low dry weight, but also abundant. On average, 37 nauplii were counted per sample. Reducing the maximum number measured to 30 could save on processing time with almost no effect on estimates of total sample biomass (0.1% average deviation with 95% of samples between 0–1.2% deviation). Copepodites also have high counts per sample (29 times on average) but are larger and their length is more variable than nauplii. Simulations revealed that variation in copepodite length has a larger effect on estimates of total sample biomass than nauplii (Figure 49c). Reducing the maximum number of nauplii and copepodites measured to 30 each per sample would have a slightly larger effect on sample biomass (0.9% average deviation with 95% of samples between 0-8%). Using the long-term average for both copepodites and nauplii (i.e., rather than measuring individuals in each sample) also had a larger effect on estimates of sample biomass (3.6% average deviation with 95% of samples between 0–14%).

We therefore recommend limiting the number of nauplii and copepodites measured to 30 individuals in each sample.

SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATIONS

In this report, we synthesized zooplankton data through October 2021 for nine Large Lakes in Minnesota. This work indicates that while both zebra mussels and spiny waterflea impact native zooplankton communities in this group of lakes, the effects are likely driven by complex interactions between food web components and influenced by physicochemical characteristics of the individual lakes. Both invasive invertebrates reduced zooplankton biomass and

production for all functional groups (Figures 9a, 10), although differences among lakes increased variability when generalizing the impacts of different invasion status (Figure 9b). The magnitude of the impacts to native zooplankton also varied through the open water season for both invaders (Figure 10). Lake Mille Lacs was the only Large Lake where an abrupt change in zooplankton metrics occurred following invasion (i.e. 2011, Pettitt test, Figure 29). Multiple metrics indicated that the other Large Lakes were impacted, although the change was not as abrupt to be detected the Pettitt test (Table 3). We used comparisons of biomass and production estimates to demonstrate that not only do these invasive invertebrates impact the native zooplankton community, but likely have impacts on other trophic levels. Length of invasion, timing of monitoring in relation to the invasion and complex biotic and abiotic interactions are unique to each lake system and likely influenced the observed effect sizes. We identified efficiencies and provided recommendations to the field-laboratory process using statistical analyses. We provided suggestions to streamline the monitoring program with AIS status in mind for each lake. In general, we find value in continuing to monitor for spiny waterflea and zebra mussel veligers with zooplankton. Additional data and analyses are needed to better explain the dynamics of zooplankton and AIS across and among the Large Lakes.

TABLE 3. — Summary table of Theil-Sen slopes for zooplankton density, biomass, and production in Minnesota's Large Lakes. All values presented were significant (P<0.05). NS indicates no significant change. Arrows denote an overall increase or decrease in diversity. Production was not estimated in Lake of the Woods.

Lake name	AIS status	Density (number L ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)	Biomass (µg DM L ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)	Production (µg DM L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹ y ⁻¹)	Shannon diversity
Cass	ZM	-1.0	-5.5	-2.0	NS
Kabetogama	SWF	-0.4	-0.5	-5.6	Ļ
Lake of the Woods	Both	1.1	-2.9	NA	NS
Leech	ZM	-1.2	-6.5	-2.7	Ļ
Mille Lacs	Both	-1.3	-2.7	-6.0	Ļ
Rainy	SWF*	-0.2	-0.8	-1.4	Ļ
Red	ZM	0.9	1.7	1.4 (Upper), NS (Lower)	NS
Vermilion (East)	SWF	-1.3	-11.6	-4.2	NS
Vermilion (West)	SWF	1.9	1.5	NS	Ť
Winnibigoshish	ZM	-2.5	-12.5	NS	NS

*considered 'Both' as of fall 2021

Zebra mussels can drastically change lake ecosystems by altering complex food webs (Karavayev et al. 1997; Higgins and Vander Zanden 2010; Walsh et al. 2016). While we focused solely on pelagic veliger-zooplankton relationships, data from other trophic levels and habitats, including adult zebra mussels, may further explain the temporal and spatial dynamics of zooplankton in zebra mussel lakes. Additionally, we acknowledge the veliger data are not good predictors for assessing adult populations in lakes, congruent with other work (Strayer et al. 2019; Jones and Montz 2020). Interpreting the zooplankton data in the context of invasion impacts could benefit from first, determining if zebra mussels are fully established in the system by including additional monitoring of other life stages and secondly, including lower and higher trophic level information to determine other direct and indirect impacts of zebra mussels in the Large Lakes.

Understanding middle trophic levels provides additional lines of evidence, beyond the fish population surveys, in these lakes of large-scale system change. Data from the Large Lake program were included in multiple studies aimed at better understanding the dynamics of these lakes, including the effects of invasive species on fish habitat, including structural and light habitat (Jones and Montz 2020; Rantala et al. 2022). The data also informed work about AIS impacts on fish population dynamics (Staples et al. 2017; Hansen et al 2020; Honsey et al. 2020) and food web dynamics in these systems (Kerfoot et al. 2016; Rantala et al. 2022; Bethke et al. 2023). Future work will help us better understand the links between invertebrate communities and fish populations.

There are several opportunities to increase the value of the zooplankton monitoring component of the Large Lake program to better support fisheries managers. While it is generally agreed upon that zooplankton are critical to the survival of juvenile Walleye (Krabbenhoft et al. 2023) relatively little work has been done in Minnesota to characterize how influential zooplankton are to Walleye or other key fishes in the LLP (although see Hansen et al. 2020 and Bethke et al. 2023). Work conducted in other large lakes have established these connections between zooplankton and Walleye (e.g. Graham et al. 1992; May et al. 2021) and Yellow Perch (e.g. Dettmers et al. 2003). Additional research should explore the role zooplankton plays in Walleye and Yellow Perch recruitment in the large lakes, particularly given the observed broadscale declines in zooplankton biomass and anticipated increases in phenological mismatches due to climate change.

Additionally, collecting more information about spiny waterflea and *Leptodora* (i.e. length measurements) would enable us to understand the roles of these predators in food web energy dynamics. Confirming and/or monitoring of adult zebra mussel populations for comparison with veliger densities from the zooplankton tows, would allow for us to understand the potential for veliger data to be used as an index of population impacts. There is an opportunity to use zooplankton data to continue learning about the links among environmental and biotic components of the lakes, including fishes. Finally, archiving zooplankton tows, which is not currently done, would allow for animals collected in the present to be used in future work.

North Temperate lakes around the world are rapidly changing from multiple stressors, including climate change, eutrophication, invasive species, and land use change (Williamson et al. 2008; Gallardo et al. 2016; Grant et al. 2021; Jane et al. 2021; Vitense and Hansen 2023), and freshwater systems are experiencing higher rates of biodiversity loss than either terrestrial or marine systems (Jenkins 2003). These disturbances make long-term monitoring programs essential for documenting and understanding ecosystem change (Lindenmayer et al. 2012), as

well as evaluating management activities as an important component of adaptive management of fisheries (Walters and Hilborn 1976; Hansen et al. 2015). Robust monitoring programs include flexibility to adapt to new questions, technologies, or methodologies (Lindenmayer and Likens 2009), and zooplankton are an important component of these programs, as they serve as sentinels of change (Papa and Briones 2014).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Field samples were collected by MNDNR Large Lake Specialists and area fisheries staff, Voyageurs National Park, and Red Lake Nation staff as part of the MNDNR Large Lake Long Term Monitoring Program. We also thank these staff for review of their respective lake sections and Dr. Casey Schoenebeck, Jon Hansen, and Dr. Don Eaton for the review of the entire report. Finally, we thank Lake Superior Research Institute staff, Lana Fanberg, for taxonomic quality control and expertise.

The work in this report was funded by Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Game and Fish Fund and Invasive Species program funding.

DATA AVAILABILITY

Data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

REFERENCES

Balcer, M. D., N. L. Korda, and S. I. Dodson. 1984. Zooplankton of the Great Lakes: A guide to the identification and ecology of the common crustacean species. The University of Wisconsin Press, Madison.

Barbiero, R. P., and M. L. Tuchman. 2004. Changes in the crustacean communities of Lakes Michigan, Huron, and Erie following the invasion of the predatory cladoceran *Bythotrephes longimanus.* Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:2111–2125.

Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1-48.

Benke, A. C. 1993. Concepts and patterns of invertebrate production in running waters. Verhandlungen des Internationalen Verein Limnologie 25:15–38.

Bethke, B. J., H. M. Rantala, T. D. Ahrenstorff, H. A. Wellard Kelly, K. E. Kovalenko, R. P. Maki, J. K. Hirsch, J. D. Dumke, V. J. Brady, J. F. LeDuc, and G. J. A. Hansen. 2023. Walleye and yellow perch resource us in large lakes invaded by spiny water fleas and zebra mussels. Aquatic Ecology 57:1–14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10452-023-10030-0</u>

Boudreau, S. A., and N. D. Yan. 2003. The differing crustacean zooplankton communities of Canadian Shield lakes with and without the nonindigenous zooplanktivore *Bythotrephes longimanus*. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 60:1307–1313.

Brooks, J.L. 1957. The systematics of North American daphnia. Memoirs of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, 13:1–180.

Brooks, J. L., and S. I. Dodson. 1965. Predation, body size, and composition of plankton. Science 150:28–35.

Burdis, R. M., and J. K. Hirsch. 2005. Establishment of a viable population of *Daphnia lumholtzi* in Lake Pepin, Upper Mississippi River. Journal of Freshwater Ecology, 20:205–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2005.9664956</u>

Burdis, R. M., and J. K. Hirsch. 2017. Crustacean zooplankton dynamics in a natural riverine lake, Upper Mississippi River, Journal of Freshwater Ecology 32:240–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2017.1279080

Corson-Dosch, H. R., W. A. Mcaliley, L. R. C. Platt, J. A. Padilla, and J. S. Read. 2023. Daily water column temperature predictions for thousands of Midwest U. S. lakes between 1979–2022 and under future climate scenarios: U. S. Geological Survey data release. https://doi.org/10.5066/P9EQQER7

Cross, W. F., C. V. Baxter, K. C. Donner, E. J. Rosi-Marshall, T. A. Kennedy, R. O. Hall, Jr., H. A. Wellard Kelly, and R. S. Rogers. 2011. Ecosystem ecology meets adaptive management: Food web response to a controlled flood on the Colorado River, Glen Canyon. Ecological Applications 21:2016–2033.

Culver, D. A., M. M. Boucherle, D. J. Bean, and J. W. Fletcher. 1985. Biomass of freshwater crustacean zooplankton from length-weight regressions. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 42:1380–1390.

Cutter, Z. A., T. B. Mihuc, and L. W. Myers. 2023. Invasion of *Bythotrephes longimanus* and *Cercopagis pengoi* in Lake Champlain: Impacts on the native zooplankton community. Diversity 15:1112. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/d15111112</u>

Dettmers, J. M., M. J. Raffenberg, and A. K. Weis. 2003. Exploring zooplankton changes in southern Lake Michigan: Implications for Yellow Perch recruitment. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 29(2):355–364.

Dodson, S. I., A. L. Newman, S. Will-Wolf, M. L. Alexander, M. P. Woodford, and S. Van Egeren. 2009. The relationship between zooplankton community structure and lake characteristics in temperate lakes (Northern Wisconsin, USA). Journal of Plankton Research, 31(1):93–100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/fbn095</u>

Doubek, J. P., S. K. Goldfarb, and J. D. Stockwell. 2020. Should we be sampling zooplankton at night? Limnology and Oceanography Letters 5:1–9.

Dumitru, C., W. G. Sprules, and N. D. Yan. 2001. Impact of *Bythotrephes longimanus* on zooplankton assemblages of Harp Lake, Canada: An assessment based on predator consumption and prey production. Freshwater Biology 46:241–251.

Dumont, H. J., I. Van de Velde, and S. Dumont. 1975. The dry weight estimate of biomass in a selection of cladocera, copepod and rotifer from the plankton, periphyton and benthos of continental waters. Oecologia (Berl.) 19:75–97.

Edmondson, W.T. 1959. Freshwater Biology. John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York. 1248 p.

Escobar, L. E., S. Mallez, M. McCartney, C. Lee, D. P. Zielinski, R. Ghosal, P. G. Bajer, C. Wagner, B. Nash, M. Tomamichel, P. Venturelli, P. P. Mathai, A. Kokotovich, J. Escobar-Dodero, and N. B. D. Phelps. 2017. Aquatic invasive species in the Great Lakes Region: An overview. Fisheries Science & Aquaculture 26:121–138.

Gallardo, B., M. Clavero, M. I. Sánchez, and M. Vilà. 2016. Global ecological impacts of invasive species in aquatic ecosystems. Global Change Biology 22:151–163.

Gamble, A. E., T. R. Hrabik, D. L. Yule, and J. D. Stockwell. 2011. Trophic connections in Lake Superior Part II: The nearshore fish community. Journal of Great Lakes Research 37:550–560.

Gascoigne, J. C., and R. N. Lipcius. 2004. Allee effects driven by predation. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:801–210.

Gatch, A. J., B. C. Weidel, D. Gorsky, B. P. O'Malley, M. J. Connerton, J. P. Holden, K. T. Holeck, J. A. Goretzke, and C. Karboski. 2021. Incorporation of non-native species in the diets of cisco (*Coregonus artedi*) from eastern Lake Ontario. Journal of Great Lakes Research 47:1135–1145.

Gillooly, J. F. 2000. Effect of body size and temperature on generation time in zooplankton. Journal of Plankton Research 22:241-251.

Graham, D. M., W. G. Sprules. 1992. Size and species selection of zooplankton by larval and juvenile walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum vitreum*) in Oneida Lake, New York. Canadian Journal of Zoology 70: 2059-2067.

Grant, L., I. Vanderkelen, L. Gumundsson, Z. Tan, M. Perroud, V. M. Stepnenko, A. V. Debolskiy, B. Droppers, A. B. G. Janssen, R. I. Woolway, M. Choulga, G. Balsamo, G. Kirillin, J. Schewe, F. Zhao, I. Vega del Valle, M. Golub, D. Pierson, R. Marcé, S. I Seneviartne, and W. Thiery. 2021. Attribution of global lake systems change to anthropogenic forcing. Nature Geoscience 14:849–854.

Guerrero, F., and V. Rodríguez. 1994. Secondary production of a congeneric species assemblage of *Acartia* (Copepoda: Calanoida): A calculation based on the size-frequency distribution. Scientia Marina 58:161–167.

Haney, J.F. "An-Image-based Key to the Zooplankton of North America" version 5.0 released 2013. University of New Hampshire Center of Freshwater Biology. <u>https://cfb.unh.edu/cfbkey/html/index.html</u>

Hansen, G. J. A., T. D. Ahrenstorff, B. J. Bethke, J. D. Dumke, J. Hirsch, K. E. Kovalenko, J. F. LeDuc, R. P. Maki, H. M. Rantala, T. Wagner. 2020. Walleye growth declines following zebra mussel and Bythotrephes invasion. Biological Invasions 22:1481–1495. <u>10.1007/s10530-020-02198-5</u>

Hansen, G. J. A., J. W. Gaeta, J. F. Hansen, and S. R. Carpenter. 2015. Learning to manage and managing to learn: Sustaining freshwater recreational fisheries in a changing environment. Fisheries 40:56–64.

Heiskary, S., J. Hirsch, and H. Rantala. 2016. Patterns in phytoplankton and zooplankton in Minnesota lakes. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources Special Publication 178, MNDNR, St. Paul, MN, USA. 88p.
Higgins, S. N., and M. J. Vander Zanden. 2010. What a difference a species makes: A metaanalysis of dreissenid mussel impacts on freshwater ecosystems. Ecological Monographs 80:179–196.

Hirsch, J.K. 2014. Long term monitoring in Minnesota lakes-interactions between *Bythotrephes longimanus* and native zooplankton communities. Proceedings of the International Rainy-Lake of the Woods Watershed Forum. International Falls, Minnesota.

Honsey, A. E., Z. S. Feiner, and G. J. A. Hansen. 2020. Drivers of walleye recruitment in Minnesota's large lakes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 77:1921–1933.

Hoxmeier, R. J. H., D. H. Wahl, M. L. Hooe, and C. L. Pierce. 2004. Growth and survival of larval walleyes in response to prey availability. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 133:45–54.

Hudson, P.L., and Lynn T. Lesko. 2003. Free-living and parasitic copepods of the Laurentian Great Lakes: Keys and details on individual species. Ann Arbor, MI: Great Lakes Science Center Home Page. <u>http://www.glsc.usgs.gov/greatlakescopepods</u>

Jane, S. F., G. J. A. Hansen, B. M. Kraemer, P. R. Leavitt, J. L. Mincer, R. L. North, R. M. Pilla, J. T. Stetler, C. E. Williamson, R. I. Woolway, L. Arvola, S. Chandra, C. L. DeGasperi, L. Diemer, J. Dunalska, O. Erina, G. Flaim, H. Grossart, K. D. Hambright, C. Hein, J. Hejzlar, L. L. Janus, J. Jenny, J. R. Jones, L. B. Knoll, B. Leoni, E. Mackay, S. Matsuzaki, C. McBride, D. C. Müller-Navarra, A. M. Paterson, D. Pierson, M. Rogora, J. A. Rusak, S. Sadro, E. Saulnier-Talbot, M. Schmid, R. Sommaruga, W. Thiery, P. Verburg, K. C. Weathers, G. A. Weyhenmeyer, K. Yokota, and K. C. Rose. 2021. Widspread deoxygenation of temperate lakes. Nature 594:66–81.

Jenkins, M. 2003. Prospects for biodiversity. Science 302:1175–1177.

Johnson, L. E. 1995. Enhanced early detection and enumeration of zebra mussel (*Dreissena* spp.) veligers using cross-polarized light microscopy. Hydrobiologia 312:139–146.

Johnson, T. B. and J. F. Kitchell. 1996. Long-term changes in zooplanktivorous fish community composition: implications for food webs. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53:2792–2803.

Jones, T. S. and G. R. Montz. 2020. Population increase and associated effects of zebra mussels *Dreissena polymorpha* in Lake Mille Lacs, Minnesota, U.S.A. BioInvasions Records 9:772–792.

Karatayev, A. Y., L. E. Burlakova, and D. K. Padilla. 1997. The effects of *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas) invasion on aquatic communities in Eastern Europe. Journal of Shellfish Research 16:187–203.

Karatayev, V. A., L. G. Rudstam, A. Y. Karatayev, L. E. Burlakova, B. V. Adamovich, H. A. Zhukava, K. T. Holeck, A. L. Hetherington, J. R. Jackson, C. Balogh, Z. Serfőző, C. W. Hotaling, T. V. Zhukova, T. M. Mikheyeva, R. Z. Kovalevskaya, O. A. Makrevich, and D. B. Kruk. 2003. Time scales of ecosystem impacts and recovery under individual and serial invasions. Ecosystems 26:1224–1237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-023-00828-2</u>

Kerfoot, W. C., M. M. Hobmeier, F. Yousef, B. M. Lafrancois, R. P. Maki, and J. K. Hirsch. 2016. A plague of waterfleas (Bythotrephes): Impacts on microcrustacean community structure, seasonal biomass, and secondary production in a large inland-lake complex. Biological Invasions 18:1121–1145. <u>10.1007/s10530-015-1050-9</u>.

Krabbenhoft, C. A., S. A. Ludsin, E. A. Marschall, R. R. Budnik, L. Z. Almeida, C. L. Cahill, H. S. Embke, Z. S. Feiner, P. J. Schmalz, M. J. Thorstensen, M. J. Weber, M. R. Wuellner, G. J. Hansen. 2023. Synthesizing professional opinion and published science to build a conceptual model of Walleye recruitment. Fisheries 48:141–156.

Kramer, A. M., and J. M. Drake. 2010. Experimental demonstration of population extinction due to predator-driven Allee effect. Journal of Animal Ecology 79:633–639.

Lehman, J. T., and C. E. Cáceres. 1993. Food-web responses to species invasion by a predatory invertebrate: *Bythotrephes* in Lake Michigan. Limnology and Oceanography 38:879–891.

Lindenmayer, D. B., and G. E. Likens. 2009. Adaptive monitoring: A new paradigm for long-term research and monitoring. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 24:482–486.

Lindenmayer, D. B., G. E. Likens, A. Andersen, D. Bowman, C. M. Bull, E. Burns, C. R. Dickman, A. A. Hoffmann, D. A. Keith, M. J. Liddell, A. J. Lowe, D. J. Metcalfe, S. R. Phinn, J. Russell-Smith, N. Thurgate, and G. M. Wardle. 2012. Value of long-term ecological studies. Austral Ecology 37:745–757.

MacIssac, H. J, W. G. Sprules, and J. H. Leach. 1991. Ingestion of small-bodies zooplankton by zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*): Can cannibalism on larvae influence population dynamics? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 48:2051–2060.

MacIssac, H. J, C. J. Lonnee, and J. H. Leach. 1995. Suppression of microzooplankton by zebra mussels: Importance of mussel size. Freshwater Biology 34:379–387.

Mathias, J. A., and S. Li. 1982. Feeding habits of walleye larvae and juveniles: Comparative laboratory and field studies. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 111:722–735.

May, C. J., R. R. Budnik, S. A. Ludsin, D. R. O'Donnell, J. M. Hood, E. F. Roseman, and E. A. Marschall. 2021. Evidence that copepod biomass during the larval period regulates recruitment of Lake Erie walleye. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 47(6):1737–1745.

Miehls, A. L., J. D. M. Mason, K. A. Frank, A. E. Krause, S. D. Paecor, and W. W. Taylor. 2009. Invasive species impacts on ecosystem structure and function: A comparison of Oneida Lake, New York, USA, before and after zebra mussel invasion. Ecological Modelling 220:3194–3209.

Mills, E. L., J. L. Confer, and D. W. Kretchmer. 1986. Zooplankton selection by young yellow perch: The influence of light, prey density, and predator size. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 115:716–725.

Mills, E. L., J. H. Leach, J. T. Carlton, and C. L. Secor. 1993. Exotic species in the Great Lakes: A history of biotic crises and anthropogenic introductions. Journal of Great Lake Research 19:1–54.

MNDNR. 1997. Potential, target, and current yields for Minnesota's 10 large walleye lakes. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Section of Fisheries, Special Publication Number 151, St. Paul, MN.

Montz, G. R., R. Rezanka, D. Swanson, T. Plude. 2021. Early season water temperature effects on zebra mussel veliger density. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. Final Report.

Nelson, B. 2022. A large lake sampling program assessment report for Lake of the Woods, 2021. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. Federal Aid Project F19AF00189. Study II., St Paul. Minnesota.

Oksanen, J., G. Simpson, F. Blanchet, R. Kindt, P. Legendre, P. Minchin, R. O'Hara, P. Solymos, M. Stevens, E. Szoecs, H. Wagner, M. Barbour, M. Bedward, B. Bolker, D. Borcard, G. Carvalho, M. Chirico, M. De Caceres, S. Durand, H. Evangelista, R. FitzJohn, M. Friendly, B. Furneaux., G. Hannigan, M. Hill, L. Lahti, D. McGlinn, M. Ouellette, E. Riberio Cunha, T. Smith, A. Stier, D. Ter Braak, and J. Weedon. 2022. Vegan: Community ecology package. R package version 2.6-4, <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan</u>.

Olden, J. D., O. P. Jensen, and M. J. Vander Zanden. 2006. Implications of long-term dynamics of fish and zooplankton communities for among-lake comparisons. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63:1812–1821.

Pace, M. L., S. E. G. Findlay, and D. Fischer. 1998. Effects of an invasive bivalve on the zooplankton community of the Hudson River. Freshwater Biology 39:103–116.

Papa, R. D. S., and J. C. A. Briones. 2014. Climate and human-induced changes to lake ecosystems: What we can learn from monitoring zooplankton ecology. Journal of Environmental Science and Management 17:60–67.

Pohlert, T. 2023. Trend: Non-parametric trend tests and change-point detection. R package vers ion 1.1.6, <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=trend</u>

R Development Core Team, 2009. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0. <u>http://www.R-project.org</u>.

Rantala, H. M., D. K. Branstrator, J. K. Hirsch, T. S. Jones, and G. Montz. 2022. Simultaneous invasion decouples zebra mussels and water clarity. Communications Biology 5:1405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-022-04355-z</u>.

Rudstam, L. G., R. C. Lathrop, and S. R. Carpenter. 1993. The rise and fall of a dominant planktivore: Direct and indirect effects on zooplankton. Ecology 74:303–319.

Rusak, J. A., N. D. Yan, K. M. Somers, K. L. Cottingham, F. Micheli, S. R. Carpenter, T. M. Frost, M. J. Paterson, and D. J. McQueen. 2002. Temporal, spatial, and taxonomic patterns of crustacean zooplankton variability in unmanipulated north-temperate lakes. Limnology and Oceanography 47:613–625.

Schulz, K. L., and P. M. Yurista. 1999. Implications of an invertebrate predator's (*Bythotrephes cederstroemi*) atypical effects on a pelagic zooplankton community. Hydrobiologia 380:179–193.

Staples, D. F., R. P. Maki, J. K. Hirsch, W. C. Kerfoot, J. F. LeDuc, T. Burri, B. M. Lafrancois, and J. Glase. 2017. Decrease in young-of-the-year yellow perch growth rates following *Bythotrephes longimanus* invasion. Biological Invasions 19:2197–2205. <u>10.1007/s10530-017-1431-3</u>.

Strayer, D. L., N. F. Caraco, J. J. Cole, S. Findlay, and M. L. Pace. 1999. Transformation of freshwater ecosystems by bivalves. Bioscience 49:19–27.

Strayer D. L., V. T. Eviner, J. M. Jeschke, and M. L. Pace. 2006. Understanding the long-term effects of species invasions. Trends Ecology & Evolution 21:645–651.

Strayer, D. L., B. V. Adamovich, R. Adrian, D. C. Aldridge, C. Balogh, L. E. Burlakova, H. B. Fried-Petersen, L. G. Tóth, A. L. Hetherington, T. S. Jones, A. Y Karatayev, J. B. Madill, O. A. Makarevich, J. E. Marsden, A. L. Martel, D. Minchin, T. F. Nalepa, R. Noordhuis, T. J. Robinson, L. G. Rudstam, A. N. Schwalb, D. R. Smith, A. D. Steinman, and J. M. Jeschke. 2019. Long-term population dynamics of dressenid mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha* and *D. rostriformis*): A cross-system analysis. Ecosphere 10(4):e02701. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2701

Strecker, A. L., S. E. Arnott, N. D. Yan, and R. Girard. 2006. Variation in the response of crustacean zooplankton species richness and composition to the invasive predator *Bythotrephes longimanus*. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 63:2126–2136. https://doi.org/10.1139/f06-105

Uphoff C. S., C. W. Schoenebeck, K. D. Koupal, K. L. Pope, and W. Wyatt Hoback. 2019. Age-0 walleye *Sander vitreus* display length dependent diet shift to piscivory, Journal of Freshwater Ecology 34(1):27–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2018.1529637</u>

Vanderploeg, H. A., J. R. Liebig, and M. Omair. 1993. *Bythotrephes* predation on Great Lakes' zooplankton measured by an in situ method: Implications for zooplankton community structure. Internationale Vereingung für Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie: Verhandlungen 127:1–8.

Vanni, M. J. 1987. Effects of food availability and fish predation on a zooplankton community. Ecological Monographs 57:61–88.

Vitense, K., and G. J. A. Hansen. 2023. Nonlinear water clarity trends and impacts on littoral area in Minnesota lakes. Limnology and Oceanography Letters 8:657–665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10323</u>

Walters, C. J., and R. Hilborn. 1976. Adaptive control of fishing systems. Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada 33:145–159.

Walsh, J. R., S. R. Carpenter, M. J. V. Zanden. 2016. Invasive species triggers a massive loss of ecosystem services through a trophic cascade. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science 113:4081–4085.

Wickham, H. 2016. ggplot2: Elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA.

Williamson, C. E., W. Dodds, T. K. Kratz, and M. A. Palmer. 2008. Lakes and streams as sentinels of environmental change in terrestrial and atmospheric processes. Frontiers of Ecology and the Environment 6:247–254.

Wingate, P. J., and D. H. Schupp. 1984. Large lake sampling guide. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, Section of Fisheries, Special Publication 140, St. Paul, MN.

Wood, S. N. 2011. Fast stable restricted maximum likelihood and marginal likelihood estimation of semiparametric generalized linear models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society (B) 73:3–36.

Wood, S. N. 2017. Generalized additive models: An introduction with R (2nd edition). Chapman and Hall.

Wood, S. N., N. Pya, and B. Saefken. 2016. Smoothing parameter and model selection for general smooth models (with discussion). Journal of the American Statistical Association 111: 1548–1575.

Yan, N. D., A. Blukacz, W. G. Sprules, P. K. Kindy, D. Hackett, R. E. Girard, and B. J. Clark. 2001. Changes in zooplankton and the phenology of the spiny waterflea, Bythothrephes, following its invasion of Harp Lake, Ontario Canada. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58:2341–2350.

Yan, N. D., R. Girard, and S. Boudreau. 2002. An introduced invertebrate predator (*Bythotrephes*) reduces zooplankton species richness. Ecology Letters 5:481–485.



FIGURE 4.—Boxplots comparing daily densities (number/m³) of spiny waterflea from five large lakes in Minnesota. Lakes are arranged from lowest to highest densities (top left to bottom right) and Y-axis varies by lake. Red shades indicate lake infestation status as either critical (1–27 number/m³), severe (28–121 number/m³), or extreme (>121 number/m³). Data were collected annually from May-October when possible. Lake Vermilion is summarized by basin (East and West). Samples collected from Lake of the Woods in 2008–2012 used a 150 µm sized mesh net (vs. the standard 80 µm mesh). Samples from Lake Kabetogama and Rainy used a 153 µm sized mesh net.



FIGURE 5a.—Relationships between total native zooplankton density (number/L) and spiny waterflea density (number m⁻³). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with spiny waterflea (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Kabetogama (n=83), Lake of the Woods (n=82), Mille Lacs (n=98), Rainy (n=91), Vermilion- East (n=71), Vermilion-West (n=70).



FIGURE 5b.—Relationships between total natve zooplankton biomass (μ g/L) and spiny waterflea density (number/m³). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with spiny waterflea (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Kabetogama (n=83), Lake of the Woods (n=82), Mille Lacs (n=98), Rainy (n=91), Vermilion- East (n=71), Vermilion-West (n=70).



FIGURE 6.—Boxplots comparing daily densities (number/L) of zebra mussel veligers from six large lakes in Minnesota. Orange dashed line indicated year of unknown infestation. Lakes are arranged from lowest to highest densities (top left to bottom right) and Y-axis varies by lake. Data were collected annually from May-October when possible. Density data are also presented in the individual lake section (e.g. Figure 12).



FIGURE 7a.—Relationships between total native zooplankton and zebra mussel veliger density (number/L). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with zebra mussels (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Cass (n=51), Lake of the Woods (n=52), Leech (n=56), Mille Lacs (n=90), Red (n=73), Winnibigoshish (n=48).



FIGURE 7b.—Relationships between total native zooplanton biomass (μ g/L) and zebra mussel veliger density (number/L). Color gradiant represents the number of years a particular lake has been infested with zebra mussels (1= year listed as infested). Total samples by lake; Cass (n=51), Lake of the Woods (n=52), Leech (n=56), Mille Lacs (n=90), Red (n=73), Winnibigoshish (n=48).



FIGURE 8.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in eight of the nine monitored Large Lakes (2-D stress = 0.07). Lake Mille Lacs was excluded due to differences in taxonomic resolution for cyclopoid copepods. Vectors show the trajectories of the lake zooplankton communities from pre-invasion to post-invasion years. Similar communities based on taxa and mean biomass are in closer proximity. The main taxa contributing to community patterns are labeled in the direction of increasing biomass of those taxa (solid grey dot with taxa name in blue). A cluster analysis identified two distinct types of zooplankton communities, an and b, each associated with four of the Large Lakes.



FIGURE 9a.—Plot of change in native zooplankton production in individual study lakes for grazing (top; cladocerans and calanoid copepods) and predatory (bottom, cyclopoids) taxa. We used a three-year lag time to assign invasion status for zebra musselinvaded lakes. Estimates are color-coded for invasion status, yellow = zebra mussel only, blue = spiny waterflea only, orange = zebra mussel and spiny waterflea. Upper and Low Red lakes were excluded from the analyses, as we had <3 years of post-invasion data.



FIGURE 9b.—Median daily summer native zooplankton production (ug L⁻¹ d⁻¹) in the study lakes when infested with spiny waterflea (SWF), zebra mussels (ZM), or both (SWF & ZM), and results of generalized linear mixed effects models relative to lakes without either of those invasive invertebrates (Neither). Impacts were estimated for large *Daphnia* spp., small cladocerans, and adult cyclopoid and calanoid copepods. Models included random effects for individual lakes and years (n = 121 for each analysis). Lake of the Woods was not included; Lake Vermilion was split into East and West basins. Error bars represent bootstrapped 95% confidence intervals. * = p<0.05, ** = p<0.01, *** = p<0.001



FIGURE 10.— Percent change of native zooplankton biomass (relative to average summer biomass in uninvaded lakes, 0 % on y-axis) in the presence of zebra mussels (ZM, yellow), spiny waterflea (SWF, blue), both (SWF & ZM, pink), or without either of those invasive invertebrates (Neither, gray). We estimated the effects of the different invasion scenarios relative to uninvaded lakes using generalized additive models (GAMs) of large *Daphnia spp.*, small cladocerans, adult copepods (calanoids and cyclopoids separately) through the summer from the study lakes. Time was represented by cumulative degree days (dd, base 0°C, Corson-Dosch et al. 2023). The effects of individual lakes and years were estimated by including random 'lake' and 'year' variables in the GAMs. We included a spline for time (dd) and a smoothing factor for the time*invasion status interaction. * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001. For context, in these lakes, median cumulative dd (2011–2021) were: May 15 = 686 dd; July 1 = 1553 dd; and September 30 = 3598.



FIGURE 11. —Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Cass Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to four collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021.



FIGURE 12.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Cass Lake. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density (number L⁻¹) of zebra mussel veligers is from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.

CASS LAKE



FIGURE 13.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Cass Lake (2-D stress = 0.09). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.



FIGURE 14.—Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2012–2021 in Cass Lake.



Cass Lake and Lake Andrusia zooplankton



FIGURE 15. —Annual mean density (number/L) and biomass (µg/L) of zooplankton for five functional groups in Cass Lake (sites include Allen's Bay, Wishbone, North Main and South Main) and Lake Andrusia. Samples were collected in May from 2017–2021.



LAKE KABETOGAMA

FIGURE 16.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake Kabetogama. Hollow circles represent one sampling event and correspond to site 1 only. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2001–2021.



FIGURE 17.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Kabetogama. Color bars represent different functional groups. The data are from site 1 only and sampling event from August 3, 2020 was removed due to a large *Daphnia galeata mendotae* bloom that occurred. Annual mean density (number m⁻³) of spiny waterflea is from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 18.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Kabetogama (2-D stress = 0.05). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.



FIGURE 19.—Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2001–2021 in Lake Kabetogama.



FIGURE 20.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake of the Woods. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to three collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant increase in density and decrease in biomass from 2007–2021. Data from 2010 and 2012 were excluded from the analysis and data collected from 2008–2012 used a 150 µm mesh plankton net.



FIGURE 21.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake of the Woods. Color bars represent different functional groups. Data in 2010 and 2012 were collected in August only and are not summarized. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number m⁻³) and zebra mussel veligers (number L⁻¹) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 22.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake of the Woods (2-D stress = 0.08). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.

LAKE OF THE WOODS



FIGURE 23.—Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 1994–2021 in Lake of the Woods.



FIGURE 24.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Leech Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to five collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021.



FIGURE 25.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Leech Lake. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density (number/L) of zebra mussel veligers are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 26.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Leech Lake (2-D stress = 0.06). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.



FIGURE 27.—Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2012–2021 in Leech Lake.



LAKE MILLE LACS

FIGURE 28.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake Mille Lacs. Hollow circles represent one sampling event. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2006–2021. The Pettitt's test for single change-point detection was significant for density or biomass in 2011 (p-values< 0.05*).



FIGURE 29.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Mille Lacs. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number/m³) and zebra mussel veligers (number/L) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 30.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Mille Lacs (2-D stress = 0.04). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.



FIGURE 31.—Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2006–2021 in Lake Mille Lacs.


RAINY LAKE

FIGURE 32.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Rainy Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to four collection sites. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2001–2021.



FIGURE 33.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Rainy Lake. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number/m³) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.





FIGURE 34.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Rainy Lake (2-D stress = 0.09). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.







FIGURE 36.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Red Lake. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to the different basins (lower and upper). The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant increase in density and biomass from 2012–2021.



FIGURE 37.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Red Lake (upper and lower basins). Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of zebra mussel veligers (number/L) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 38.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Red Lake (2-D stress = 0.006). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.



FIGURE 39.—Barplot summarizing the Shannon diversity index for the zooplankton community from 2012–2021 in Red Lake.



LAKE VERMILION

FIGURE 40.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake Vermilion (East and West basin). Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond to four collection sites. In the East basin, the Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021. In the est basin, the Theil-Sen slope shows a significant increase in density and biomass from 2012–2021.



FIGURE 41.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Vermilion (East and West basins). Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of spiny waterflea (number/m³) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 42.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Vermilion (East and West basins; 2-D stress = 0.04 and 0.06). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.







LAKE WINNIBIGOSHISH

FIGURE 44.—Trend analyses show the total density (number/L) and biomass (μ g/L) of zooplankton in Lake Winnibigoshish and Cut Foot Sioux. Colored dots represent one sampling event and correspond the two different waterbodies. The Theil-Sen slope shows a significant decrease in density and biomass from 2012–2021.



FIGURE 45.—Bar graphs show the annual mean biomass (μ g/L) and secondary production (μ g DM L⁻¹ d⁻¹) of zooplankton in Lake Winnibigoshish and Cut Foot Sioux. Color bars represent different functional groups. Annual mean density of zebra mussel veligers (number/L) are from zooplankton samples. Error bars represent one standard error.



FIGURE 46.—A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot showing differences in zooplankton community structure in Lake Winnibigoshish and Lake Cut Foot Sioux (2-D stress = 0.08). Symbols correspond to the zooplankton community in different years. Similar communities based on taxa and abundance are positioned closer together with the main taxa contributing to this pattern labeled in the direction of increasing abundance of those taxa.





a) Length measurements



FIGURE 48.—Average number of animals counted for individual taxa in samples (gray points) and range of 95% of measurements of **(a)** individual length (μ m) and **(b)** dry weight (μ g). Spiny waterflea (Bythotrephes cederströemi, synonym Bythotrephes longimanus) was removed from the plot because it is exceptionally large, variable, and infrequently counted. The number of samples varies by taxon.



FIGURE 49.—Percent deviation of total biomass estimates from observed sample biomass under three different measurement effort scenarios. Results are plotted as the number of each taxon measured in each sample on the x-axis and the resulting sample biomass estimate as the percent deviation from the observed sample biomass on the y-axis (mean is plotted with a solid line, median is plotted as a dotted line, and shaded polygons represent the 50%, 80%, and the 95% ranges of all samples). Note the differing y-axis ranges. The three scenarios included measuring (a) some number of individuals for all taxa, (b) specified number of nauplii, plus all individuals of other taxa, and (c) a specified number of nauplii and copepodites, plus all individuals of other taxa.

APPENDICES

TABLE A.1.— Summary of sample recommendations for zooplankton monitoring in the Large Lakes. Current sample schedule shows the typical number of samples collected by month for each lake. Proposed sample schedule is a suggestion for the next 10 years based on the power analysis but is subject to change.

Lake name	Current sample schedule P					Proposed sample schedule								
	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEPT	OCT	TOTAL	MAY	JUN	JUL	AUG	SEPT	OCT	TOTAL
Cass & Andrusia	9	8	4	4	4	4	33	5	4	2	2	2	0	15
Kabetogama	1	2	1	1	1	0	6	no change				6		
Lake of the Woods	3	6	6	6	3	0	24	6	6	3	3	3	0	21
Leech	10	10	5	5	5	5	40			no c	hange			40
Mille Lacs	18	18	9	9	9	0	63	10	10	5	5	5	0	35
Rainy	5	9	5	5	5	0	29			no c	hange			29
Red (Upper and Lower)	12	12	12	12	12	6	66	12	12	6	6	6	0	42
Vermilion (East and West)	8	8	4	4	4	4	32	10	10	5	5	5	0	35
Winnibigoshish	10	10	5	5	5	0	35	8	8	4	4	4	0	28
					Total sa	mples	328					Total sa	mples	251

TABLE A.2.—Summary of zooplankton sampling effort in Minnesota's Large Lakes from 1994-2021. Additional data collected for special projects are not shown here. Standard collection methods include sampling from May through October with a 30 cm diameter, 80 µm mesh plankton net unless otherwise noted. The number of sites that were sampled varied depending on the sample event. ^a 153µm mesh net, ^b 150µm mesh net, ^c 13cm diameter net

Year sampled	Total sites	Total sample events (May – Oct)	Total samples
CASS			
2012	4	8	32
2013	4	6	23
2014	4	7	28
2015	4	8	32
2016	4	7	28
2017	4	8	32
2018	4	5	20
2019	4	7	28
2020	4	7	28
2021	4	5	20
KABETOGAMA			
2001ª	3	7	15
2002 ª	3	7	17
2003 a	3	6	18
2007 ^a	1	6	6
2008 ^a	1	6	6
2009 a	1	6	6
2010 ^a	1	5	5
2013 ª	1	6	6
2014 ^a	1	6	6
2015 ª	1	8	8
2016 ª	1	7	7
2017 ^a	1	7	7
2018 ^a	1	8	8
2019ª	1	7	7
2020 ª	1	6	6
2021 ª	1	6	6
LAKE OF THE WO	DODS		
1994	2	3	6
1995	2	1	2
1996	2	3	6

Year sampled	Total sites	Total sample events (May – Oct)	Total samples
1997	2	3	6
1998	2	3	6
1999	2	2	4
2007	2	8	15
2008 ^b	2	6	12
2009 ^b	2	5	10
2010 ^b	2	1	4
2011 ^b	2	6	12
2012 ^b	2	1	2
2013	2	7	11
2014	2	8	14
2015	2	8	14
2016	2	7	14
2017	2	5	10
2018	3	6	17
2019	3	8	24
2020	3	9	24
2021	3	8	24
LEECH			
2012	5	6	30
2013	5	6	29
2014	5	7	34
2015	5	7	35
2016	5	8	35
2017	5	9	40
2018	5	8	40
2019	5	8	37
2020	5	7	35
2021	5	7	35
MILLE LACS			
2006 °	8	4	24
2007 °	9	5	47
2008 °	9	4	34
2009	9	6	49
2010	9	7	54
2011	9	6	46
2012	9	8	75
2013	9	8	58

Year sampled	Total sites	Total sample events (May – Oct)	Total samples
2014	9	7	65
2015	9	9	81
2016	9	9	72
2017	9	8	72
2018	9	7	61
2019	9	7	54
2020	3	5	14
2021	9	7	56
RAINY			
2001 ª	6	14	35
2002 ª	6	14	36
2003 ª	4	7	24
2007 ª	7	9	40
2008 ª	5	6	28
2009 ^a	5	6	29
2010 ª	5	7	30
2013 ª	5	10	29
2014 ^a	5	8	29
2015 ª	5	10	38
2016 ª	5	7	33
2017 ^a	5	9	38
2018 ª	5	8	36
2019ª	5	8	32
2020 ª	5	6	29
2021 ª	5	7	33
RED			
2012	6	8	46
2013	6	9	55
2014	6	10	54
2015	6	9	53
2016	6	11	58
2017	6	11	57
2018	6	10	57
2019	6	11	64
2020	6	10	60
2021	6	11	59
VERMILION			
2011	5	2	5

Year sampled	Total sites	Total sample events (May – Oct)	Total samples
2012	5	4	18
2013	4	7	30
2014	3	8	24
2015	3	7	22
2016	3	9	24
2017	3	8	24
2018	4	8	32
2019	4	8	32
2020	4	6	24
2021	4	8	32
WINNIBIGOSHISH	H (includes Cut Fo	ot Sioux)	
2012	5	8	41
2013	5	7	35
2014	6	7	42
2015	6	8	42
2016	6	9	40
2017	6	7	42
2018	6	7	41
2019	6	8	41
2020	6	4	24
2021	6	3	18

TABLE A.3—Zooplankton taxa list from the nine largest walleye lakes in Minnesota (1994–2021). Specimen were identified to the lowest taxonomic level at the time they were analyzed and marked accordingly with an X. Grp shows the 5 major functional groups (calanoids [cal], cyclopoids [cyc], holopedium [holo], large daphnia [ldaph], small cladocerans [sclad]). Red indicates invasive zooplankton.

		Cass	Kabetogama	Lake of the Woods	Leech	Mille Lacs ^a	Rainy	Red	Vermilion	Winnibigoshish
Cladocerans	Grp									
Acroperus harpae	sclad	Х			Х	Х				Х
Alona sp.	sclad	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Bosmina sp.	sclad	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Bythotrephes cederströmii			Х	Х		Х	Х		Х	
Camptocercus sp.	sclad						Х			
Ceriodaphnia sp.	sclad	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Chydorus sphaericus	sclad	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Daphnia galeata mendotae	ldaph	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Daphnia longiremis	sclad	Х			Х				Х	
Daphnia parvula	sclad	Х			Х	Х	Х		Х	Х
Daphnia pulicaria	ldaph	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Daphnia retrocurva	sclad	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Diaphanosoma birgei	sclad	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Eubosmina coregoni	sclad	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Eurycercus lamellatus	sclad		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Holopedium gibberum	holo	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х

		Cass	Kabetogama	Lake of the Woods	Leech	Mille Lacsª	Rainy	Red	Vermilion	Winnibigoshish
llyocryptus sp.	sclad						Х			
Latona setifera	sclad				Х	Х				
Leptodora kindti		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Macrothricidae	sclad						Х			
Polyphemus pediculus	sclad		Х				Х			
Sida crystallina	sclad		Х	Х		Х	Х			
Simocephalus sp.	sclad					Х				
Copepods										
Acanthocyclops vernalis	сус		Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	
Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi	сус	Х	х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
Diaptomidae	cal	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Epischura lacustris	cal	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
Ergasilus sp.	сус	Х	Х		Х			Х	Х	Х
Limnocalanus macrurus	cal		Х	Х	Х		Х			
Macrocyclops sp.	сус				Х			Х		Х
Mesocyclops edax	сус	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х
Senecella calanoides	cal		Х				Х			
Tropocyclops prasinus mexicanus	сус	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	X
Richness (taxa per lake)		20	24	18	25	19	27	19	22	21

^a identified as cyclopoid only

TABLE A.4.—Output of linear mixed effects models testing for effects of different analysts (2 taxonomists over the span of the project) on the relative proportions of density (d) and biomass (b) estimates for the different copepod groups (nauplii, copepodites, adult calanoids, and adult cyclopoids) using 2018-2021 data. Lakes were included in the models as a random effect. ** = P < 0.01, *** = P < 0.001.

Таха			Estimate	Std. error	df	t	Pr(> t)	
nauplii	d	(Intercept)	0.255	0.030	15	8.49	4.64E-07	***
		Analyst 2	0.081	0.023	33	3.60	0.00104	**
	b	(Intercept)	0.020	0.004	19	4.61	0.00019	***
		Analyst 2	0.031	0.004	33	7.25	2.57E-08	***
copepodites	d	(Intercept)	0.195	0.019	18	10.21	7.18E-09	***
		Analyst 2	0.220	0.018	33	12.17	9.63E-14	***
	b	(Intercept)	0.084	0.017	25	4.95	4.42E-05	***
		Analyst 2	0.314	0.020	33	15.32	< 2e-16	***
calanoids	d	(Intercept)	0.223	0.018	19	12.32	1.54E-10	***
		Analyst 2	-0.144	0.018	33	-7.85	4.75E-09	***
	b	(Intercept)	0.519	0.040	15	12.83	1.65E-09	***
		Analyst 2	-0.206	0.031	33	-6.56	1.86E-07	***
cyclopoids	d	(Intercept)	0.328	0.022	16	15.00	7.49E-11	***
		Analyst 2	-0.157	0.018	33	-8.53	7.45E-10	***
	b	(Intercept)	0.377	0.035	16	10.78	9.30E-09	***
		Analyst 2	-0.139	0.030	33	-4.72	4.22E-05	***

^d density

^b biomass

TABLE A.5.—Output from Wilcoxon Rank Sum tests for changes in median zooplankton density and biomass from study lakes for zooplankton taxa groups in the presence of spiny waterflea (top) and zebra mussel (bottom). Lake Mille Lacs data were included in the Spiny Waterflea category. Invasion = status of lakes when sample was collected, pre = prior to invasion, post = after invasion, n = sample size, W = Wilcoxon statistic, * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01, *** = P < 0.001.

SPINY WAT	ERFLEA									
			De	nsity (nu	mber/L)		B	Biomass (µ	ug/L)	
Таха	Invasion	n	Median	W	p-value		Median	W	p-value	
All	pre	104	3.16	16413	<0.001	***	9.51	14499	<0.001	***
	post	425	1.80				5.00			
Calanoid	pre	104	2.82	22332	0.003	**	16.10	21003	<0.001	***
	post	528	1.12				7.88			
Cyclopoid	pre	156	2.27	27573	<0.001	***	7.91	24794	<0.001	***
	post	544	0.99				1.68			
Cladoceran	pre	333	1.76	70757	<0.001	***	4.76	83423	<0.001	***
	post	743	0.64				1.18			
ZEBRA MUS	SEL									
			C	ensity (r	umber/L)		Biomass (µg/L)			
Таха	Invasion	n	Median	W	p-value		Median	W	p-value	
All	pre	270	1.81	41598	0.023	*	4.89	39955	0.166	
	post	277	2.09				5.06			
Calanoid	pre	184	1.27	20211	0.005	**	9.11	19923	0.011	**
	post	188	1.57				11.2			
Cyclopoid	pre	225	0.92	24458	0.100		2.88	22634	0.845	
	post	199	1.10				3.28			
Cladoceran	pre	390	0.94	53942	0.092		2.68	55888	0.351	
	post	299	0.79				2.44			

TABLE A.6.—Output from generalized additive models (GAMs) to test for effects of zebra mussels (ZM), spiny waterflea (SWF), or both (SWF & ZM) on biomass of different zooplankton functional groups from May-September in the Large Lakes. Lake Vermilion was separated into East and West basins for this analysis. AIS3 = ZM were modeled with a three-year lag time; AIS2 = ZM were modeled with a two-year lag time; dd = time was expressed as cumulative degree-days (base 0°C); doy = time was expressed as day-of-year; lake = lake sample was collected from; year = year sample was collected in; s= smoothed variable; 'fs' = variable was a factor smooth; 're' = random variable; AIC = Akaike information criterion score; df = degrees of freedom; ML = maximum likelihood score; n = sample size.

Model	AIC	Deviance explained %	Residual deviance	Residual df	-ML
Large daphnia (<i>D. pulicaria</i> & <i>D. galeata mendotae</i>) (n=778)					
AIS3 + s(dd, AIS3, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2677.44	48.5	1278.80	737.53	1369.6
AIS2 + s(dd, AIS2, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2683.69	48.1	1288.29	737.28	1372.7
AIS3 + s(DOY, AIS3, 'fs') + s(DOY) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2724.41	45.2	1359.93	737.97	1394.3
Small cladocerans (n=844)					
AIS3 + s(dd, AIS3, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2931.85	57.3	1431.80	799.70	1505.6
AIS2 + s(dd, AIS2, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2938.67	57.0	1441.45	799.13	1509.5
AIS3 + s(DOY, AIS3, 'fs') + s(DOY) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2947.88	56.5	1460.81	800.15	1513.1
Calanoids (n=877)					
AIS3 + s(DOY, AIS3, 'fs') + s(DOY) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2276.82	68.7	620.49	832.28	1178.7
AIS3 + s(dd, AIS3, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2298.01	67.9	637.74	833.71	1189.2
AIS2 + s(dd, AIS2, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2339.82	66.3	669.65	834.21	1208.4
Cyclopoids (n=887)					
AIS3 + s(dd, AIS3, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2322.45	65.5	637.39	838.81	1212.7
AIS2 + s(dd, AIS2, 'fs') + s(dd) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2350.68	64.3	658.02	838.83	1226.2
AIS3 + s(DOY, AIS3, 'fs') + s(DOY) + s(lake, 're') + s(year, 're')	2352.59	64.3	659.55	838.90	1225.3

TABLE A.7.—Output from generalized additive models selected to predict the impacts of zebra mussels, spiny waterflea, and both species together on season biomass of native zooplankton groups (Large *Daphnia* spp., small cladocerans, calanoid copepods, and cyclopoid copepods). Std Error = standard error. Definitions of other abbreviations can be found in Table A.6.

Model					
Large daphnia (D. pulicaria & D. galeata m	<i>endotae</i>) (n=778)				
Component	Term	Estimate	Std Error	t-value	p-value
A. parametric coefficients	Intercept	1.98	0.42	4.77	<0.001
	ZM	-0.83	0.31	-2.65	0.008
	SWF	-0.72	0.31	-2.34	0.020
	SWF & ZM	-1.40	0.51	-2.75	0.005
Component	Term	edf	Ref. df	F-value	p-value
B. smooth terms	s(dd, AIS3)	10.17	35.00	1.91	<0.001
	s(dd)	6.66	7.64	6.30	<0.001
	s(lake)	8.66	9.00	46.82	<0.001
	s(year)	11.43	18.00	3.33	<0.001
Small cladocerans (n=844)					
Component	Term	Estimate	Std Error	t-value	p-value
A. parametric coefficients	Intercept	2.35	0.45	5.21	<0.001
	ZM	-0.76	0.40	-1.89	0.117
	SWF	-0.62	0.42	-3.88	<0.001
	SWF & ZM	-3.81	0.57	-6.67	<0.001
Component	Term	edf	Ref. df	F-value	p-value
B. smooth terms	s(dd, AIS3)	10.77	35.00	3.00	<0.001
	s(dd)	5.69	6.72	2.82	0.009
	s(lake)	8.82	9.00	50.61	<0.001
	s(year)	15.82	18.00	21.83	<0.001
Calanoids (n=877)					
Component	Term	Estimate	Std Error	t-value	p-value
A. parametric coefficients	Intercept	2.77	0.46	6.05	<0.001

Model					
	ZM	-0.90	0.26	-3.53	<0.001
	SWF	-0.48	0.26	-1.87	0.062
	SWF & ZM	-0.37	0.36	-1.01	0.314
Component	Term	edf	Ref. df	F-value	p-value
B. smooth terms	s(dd, AIS3)	12.12	35.00	3.59	<0.001
	s(dd)	4.89	5.80	1.96	0.072
	s(lake)	8.89	9.00	185.74	<0.001
	s(year)	13.81	18.00	9.41	<0.001
Cyclopoids (n=877)					
Component	Term	Estimate	Std Error	t-value	p-value
A. parametric coefficients	Intercept	3.03	0.36	8.33	<0.001
	ZM	-0.70	0.16	-4.44	<0.001
	SWF	-0.70	0.18	-4.00	<0.001
	SWF & ZM	-2.07	0.32	-6.48	<0.001
Component	Term	edf	Ref. df	F-value	p-value
B. smooth terms	s(dd, AIS3)	12.44	35.00	4.19	<0.001
	s(dd)	7.10	7.88	6.17	<0.001
	s(lake)	8.80	9.00	126.30	<0.001
	s(year)	16.13	18.00	34.14	<0.001

TABLE A.8.—Species-level summaries of measured length (μ m) and estimated dry weight (μ g) data from the DNR Large Lakes Program is sorted by prevalence in the 2,786 samples. S.D. = standard deviation; C.V. = coefficient of variation (ratio of the standard deviation to the mean); n = number of measured individuals needed to have 95% confidence that the sampled mean is within 10% of the actual mean.

			Length (µm)				Weight (µg)		
Species	Count	Count/ Sample	Mean	S.D.	C.V.	n	Mean	S.D.	C.V.
Nauplii	103477	37.14	198	53	0.27	29	0.20	0.11	0.55
Copepodites	80852	29.02	456	135	0.29	34	1.27	0.69	0.54
Diaptomidae	46095	16.55	994	177	0.18	13	6.31	2.24	0.35
Diacyclops bicuspidatus thomasi	44865	16.10	816	156	0.19	15	3.95	1.51	0.38
Bosmina sp.	38722	13.90	295	67	0.23	20	1.25	0.78	0.62
Daphnia galeata mendotae	26285	9.43	1047	366	0.35	48	8.48	4.78	0.56
Cyclopoids	26088	9.36	567	209	0.37	53	1.85	2.61	1.41
Calanoids	25159	9.03	959	218	0.23	20	5.98	2.94	0.49
Tropocyclops prasinus mexicanus	22696	8.15	434	65	0.15	9	1.15	0.34	0.30
Chydorus sphaericus	15159	5.44	239	48	0.20	16	0.86	0.39	0.45
Daphnia retrocurva	12284	4.41	809	226	0.28	31	2.54	1.99	0.78
Mesocyclops edax	9680	3.47	914	208	0.23	20	5.91	4.47	0.76
Diaphanosoma birgei	7554	2.71	643	178	0.28	30	3.20	0.93	0.29
Eubosmina coregoni	5169	1.86	421	94	0.22	19	3.12	1.67	0.53
Daphnia pulicaria	3716	1.33	1115	349	0.31	38	12.41	11.96	0.96
Holopedium gibberum	2851	1.02	768	258	0.34	44	5.20	2.79	0.54
Epischura lacustris	2747	0.99	1223	418	0.34	45	10.19	6.68	0.66
Ceriodaphnia sp.	2620	0.94	415	104	0.25	25	0.75	0.37	0.50
Daphnia longiremis	1395	0.50	885	222	0.25	25	6.38	2.27	0.36

			Length (µm)				Weight (µg)		
Species	Count	Count/ Sample	Mean	S.D.	C.V.	n	Mean	S.D.	C.V.
Acanthocyclops vernalis	1069	0.38	760	142	0.19	14	3.75	1.87	0.50
Limnocalanus macrurus	1051	0.38	2084	617	0.30	34	28.28	14.15	0.50
Eurycercus lamellatus	1021	0.37	933	303	0.32	41	3.86	2.77	0.72
Bythotrephes longimanus	612	0.22	2538	535	0.21	18	123.76	53.10	0.43
Bosmina longirostris	588	0.21	322	68	0.21	18	1.51	0.74	0.49
Senecella calanoides	66	0.02	2005	542	0.27	29	25.87	11.97	0.46
Daphnia parvula	46	0.02	840	386	0.46	82	6.71	5.11	0.76
Chydorus sp.	42	0.02	228	41	0.18	13	0.78	0.27	0.35
Alona sp.	38	0.01	545	198	0.36	51	0.53	0.31	0.59
Ergasilus sp.	15	0.01	763	136	0.18	13	3.28	1.42	0.43
Daphnia sp.	12	<0.01	623	169	0.27	29	2.44	1.73	0.71
Macrocyclops sp.	8	<0.01	1360	439	0.32	40	20.32	17.15	0.84
Acroperus harpae	7	<0.01	605	177	0.29	33	0.61	0.27	0.44
Sida crystallina	7	<0.01	994	350	0.35	48	5.05	1.86	0.37
Latona setifera	6	<0.01	795	214	0.27	28	3.99	1.12	0.28
Alona setulosa	4	<0.01	606	197	0.32	41	0.62	0.34	0.54
Camptocercus sp.	2	<0.01	571	288	0.51	99	1.49	1.32	0.89
Chydoridae	2	<0.01	362	79	0.22	19	1.92	0.81	0.42
Leptodora kindti	2	<0.01	2121	427	0.20	16	6.48	2.40	0.37
Polyphemus pediculus	2	<0.01	638	125	0.20	15	0.96	0.39	0.41
llyocryptus sp.	1	<0.01	556				1.26		
Simocephalus sp.	1	<0.01	591				0.54		



FIGURE A.1.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Cass Lake and Lake Andrusia, Beltrami County.



FIGURE A.2.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Lake Kabetogama and Rainy Lake, St. Louis County.



FIGURE A.3.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Lake of the Woods, Lake of the Woods County.



FIGURE A.4.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Leech Lake, Cass County.


FIGURE A.5.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Lake Mille Lacs, Mille Lacs County.



FIGURE A.6.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Red Lake, Beltrami County.



FIGURE A.7.—Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Lake Vermilion, St. Louis County.



FIGURE A.8. —Map showing zooplankton sample locations in Lake Winnibigoshish and Cut Foot Sioux Lake, Cass and Itasca County.



FIGURE A.9.—Results from power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in Cass Lake to detect a 30% or 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.

Power to Detect Biomass Decline

Power to Detect Biomass Decline



FIGURE A.10.—Results from power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in Lake of the Woods to detect a 30%, 40% or 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.



Power to Detect Biomass Decline



FIGURE A.11.—Results from power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in Lake Mille Lacs to detect a 30%, 40% or 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.

Power to Detect Biomass Decline

Power to Detect Biomass Decline



FIGURE A.12.—Results from power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in Red Lake to detect a 30%, 40% or 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.



FIGURE A.13.—Results from power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in Lake Vermilion to detect a 30% or 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.



Power to Detect Biomass Decline



FIGURE A.14.—Results from power analysis to determine the number of samples per month needed in Lake Winnibigoshish to detect a 30%, 40% or 50% decrease in zooplankton biomass between years.